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          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Good morning, ladies

          3  and gentlemen. Welcome to today's hearing of the

          4  City Council's Committee on Transportation.

          5                 My name is John Liu. I have the

          6  privilege of chairing this Committee and this

          7  morning's hearing.

          8                 This hearing has been convened as

          9  part of an ongoing attempt, both by this Council and

         10  by the general public, to shed light on the

         11  activities and the decisions undertaken by the

         12  Metropolitan Transportation Authority, New York City

         13  Transit.

         14                 Since March of last year, this

         15  Committee has actively sought information and

         16  financial documents from MTA New York City Transit,

         17  and has received virtually nothing that would shed

         18  light on the inner-workings of this agency and on

         19  its financial situation.

         20                 This lack of information and

         21  disclosure is not only offensive but harmful to the

         22  pocketbooks of the riding public who have recently

         23  been told that they must accept a fare hike, perhaps

         24  along with service cuts.

         25                 It's disturbing to me that of the
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          2  three fare hike options put forth for public comment

          3  by the MTA, none of them includes a no fare hike

          4  option. To make matters worse, the MTA plans to

          5  close an enormous number of token booths Citywide,

          6  again potentially harming riders because their

          7  safety becomes endangered.

          8                 The status quo must end. MTA New York

          9  City Transit must no longer be allowed to operate

         10  under a cloak of secrecy and non-accountability.

         11  Numbers must be disclosed that justify the actions

         12  recently authorized by the MTA Board that will

         13  undoubtedly have a severely adverse impact upon

         14  millions of bus and subway riding New Yorkers.

         15                 The public would no doubt become more

         16  understanding, and more conciliatory about the

         17  recent mass Transit announcements, if the MTA's

         18  claim that it's looking at a $1.1 billion deficit

         19  this year, and a $1.7 billion next year, is

         20  demonstrated to be real and to be accurate.

         21                 The MTA must prove that the dire

         22  situation that it claimed it is confronted with

         23  actually exists.

         24                 Let them produce the raw financial

         25  and operational data that would simply justify their
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          2  claim and make it clear to the public.

          3                 We have an absolute right to this

          4  information, especially as we are the ones being

          5  asked to dig far deeper into our pockets to ride a

          6  potentially less safe mass transit system due to

          7  service cuts and token booth closures.

          8                 Let the people simply understand, at

          9  least we are owed that.

         10                 This Committee is honored this

         11  morning to be welcoming for the very first time the

         12  Executive Director of the MTA, Katherine Lapp.

         13                 We are very pleased that she has

         14  taken the time out of her busy schedule to address

         15  this Committee today, and I am personally very

         16  helpful that she will be able to do what up til now

         17  has not been done, which is to give us a clear and

         18  readily understandable picture of what the MTA New

         19  York City Transit Agency, the financial situation of

         20  that agency is, and how it affects the riding

         21  public.

         22                 I'm also particularly hopeful that

         23  during the course of her testimony, she'll be able

         24  to share some details about the MTA's plan for its

         25  recently announced reorganization.

                                                            7

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 And, finally, I look forward to the

          3  Executive Director's insight, as to how the MTA is

          4  seeking to effectuate cost savings and improve

          5  service such as by allowing more of its capital work

          6  to be done by in-house workers, rather than

          7  contracting out with expensive firms, and also by

          8  examining proposals concerning bus Rapid Transit and

          9  alternative MetroCard arrangements.

         10                 This Committee also eagerly

         11  anticipates the Executive Director's response to the

         12  recently released report of this City's Independent

         13  Budget Office, which found that the MTA's total

         14  budget shortfall over the next two years is actually

         15  951 million, rather than the $2.8 billion announced

         16  by the MTA.

         17                 The report of the Independent Budget

         18  Office also found serious deficiencies in the manner

         19  that the MTA discloses its finances. This echoes the

         20  concerns of the City Comptroller's Office, which

         21  recently announced that it would audit New York City

         22  Transit because of what it called glaring

         23  efficiencies in the latest budget figures released

         24  with relation to New York City Transit.

         25                 This morning we are joined by Council
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          2  Member Oliver Koppell from the Bronx, Council Member

          3  Helen Sears from Queens, Council Member Diana Reyna

          4  from Brooklyn, and Council Member Eric Martin Dilan

          5  from Brooklyn, and I want to thank the work of the

          6  City Council's team, the Finance team, as well as

          7  the Transportation team, and I'm joined by Mitch

          8  Schwartz, the Legislative Counsel to this Committee,

          9  as well as by Chima Ochebere, the Financial Analyst

         10  for this Committee.

         11                 At this time I'd like to welcome

         12  Executive Director Lapp, and ask her to begin her

         13  testimony.

         14                 MS. LAPP: Thank you, Mr. Council

         15  member. And thank you, once again, for inviting me

         16  here, and I hope to address all the issues that you

         17  just mentioned and hopefully shed more light on the

         18  fiscal situation that is presented to the MTA and

         19  the Transit Authority as one of our subsidiaries.

         20                 I've handed out my formal remarks, as

         21  well as the charts we prepared for this appearance

         22  today, however, as I indicated to the Council

         23  member, I just wanted to take a few moments to veer

         24  from my testimony, because I have to say, I am not

         25  only frustrated, but extremely annoyed, at some of
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          2  the coverage that I have seen this morning in the

          3  newspapers and subsequently on TV regarding to some

          4  indication that the MTA has not disclosed its

          5  deficit numbers accurately.

          6                 And I'm going to take just a moment

          7  to quote from one of the articles. It says that we

          8  "inflated the gap in the bid for a fare hike."

          9  There's also a quote in this article that I'm

         10  looking at that indicates that we, our gap of 2.8

         11  billion was overstated, and it is far smaller if you

         12  look at the details.

         13                 Now, I really take offense to that

         14  statement, and I really, if you bear with me for a

         15  few moments, Council member, I've asked Dave, I've

         16  brought down a disk this morning, and I apologize we

         17  don't have copies of this, but we will get it to you

         18  by close of business today.

         19                 These four charts I'm going to show

         20  you were handed out at the Board meeting that we had

         21  on November 22nd of last year. That is when both

         22  myself and Mr. Kaplan, our Budget Director,

         23  presented not only to the MTA Board, everyone

         24  present. It was carried live on New York 1, and it

         25  was distributed to all newspapers.

                                                            10

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 And let me just, if I could just

          3  point to this chart, this is our gap. We broke it

          4  down, transit and commuter rails. If you look at the

          5  total that I'm circling here. It is 2.8 billion,

          6  which you could see in '03, we have a $1.1 billion

          7  gap, which Transit represents roughly 800 million.

          8  If you move to '04, we have roughly a $1.7 billion

          9  gap, and when you add the two of those together, you

         10  get 2.8.

         11                 Transit represents roughly 2 billion

         12  of the 2.8 billion number, so you could see that,

         13  and I'd be happy to answer any questions, and I once

         14  again apologize for not having this chart handed out

         15  this morning.

         16                 Now, this is what we discussed in

         17  detail at the Board meeting.

         18                 We then, as you indicated, Council

         19  Member Liu, then presented three different options

         20  for closing the $2.8 billion gap.

         21                 Across all three options we have cost

         22  saving measures, reductions, some of which you just

         23  mentioned, Council Member Liu. And I'm going to

         24  bring up this.

         25                 The first chart is Option A, and I'm
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          2  going to go through this in more detail in my

          3  comments. The first option is $1.75 base fare. And

          4  as you see here, and again it's hard to look at, but

          5  we have savings through our debt restructurings of a

          6  little over 600 million. We have our programs to

          7  eliminate the gap across all agencies, of which you

          8  have a little over 900 million. We have additional

          9  pegs that we're going to be asking for through our

         10  operating agencies, 300 million through corporate

         11  restructuring, which you just mentioned, Council

         12  member. And in this option we have for '03, looking

         13  for increased governmental assistance, I'm sorry,

         14  and '04 only of 121 million.

         15                 And after you add all that up, you

         16  come to 1.8 billion. When you minus that number from

         17  the 2.8 billion, you come to the number that is

         18  reported in today's paper of 951.4, or 952.

         19                 This number, 951.4, or 952, is the

         20  net gap after we take all the cost-saving measures,

         21  including, by the way, the token booth reductions

         22  that we just spoke about. So, as you can see, that

         23  is our net gap. That net gap needs to be filled

         24  somehow. That's what these three options are

         25  intended to do. You have three ways to close that
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          2  gap: increased, more increased governmental

          3  assistance -- you only have three options, increased

          4  governmental assistance, service reductions, or a

          5  fare increase.

          6                 So, again, statements in today's

          7  papers and on the news media, that we somehow hid

          8  our gap and overstated our gap, are factually

          9  incorrect.

         10                 The $2.8 billion gap we reported for

         11  the MTA for '03 and '04 is the gross gap. The net

         12  gap, after we take all the reductions I just

         13  outlined, is 951 or 952 million. And I'll just

         14  quickly run through Option B, and I'll get in more

         15  detail in my comments, again, has all the same

         16  reductions we just talked about, adds up to 1.8,

         17  leads 952. And we talk about a base fare of $2.

         18                 The third option we talk about, and

         19  I'll go through it again in my remarks, we assume,

         20  this one assumes that we don't get any governmental

         21  assistance in '04, and I think, as I will indicate,

         22  it's highly unlikely that the City or the State can

         23  help us out. So, if you zero that out, you actually

         24  have a gap of roughly a billion dollars, that you

         25  have to close, and we propose to close that through
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          2  a 30 percent increase in the MetroCard passes. But

          3  I'm going to go through in more detail. I apologize

          4  if I seem a little frustrated and annoyed. I am. The

          5  fact is, is that these documents have been

          6  distributed for the past two and a half months, and

          7  anyone, and as I've read the IBO report, the IBO

          8  report says the $2.8 billion gap is before you take

          9  cost-saving measures, and that's when you get down

         10  to the 952. So, again, I apologize if I seem a

         11  little frustrated, Council member. And if you'll

         12  just give me a moment I'll move to my prepared

         13  remarks.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Madam Director,

         15  please take as much time as you need. Thank you.

         16                 MS. LAPP: Once again I want to thank

         17  you, Council Member Liu, for inviting me here this

         18  morning, to discuss issues related to the management

         19  and financial status of the MTA.

         20                 I welcome the opportunity to dispel

         21  several mistatements and falsehoods that have been

         22  part of the public debate regarding the MTA in

         23  recent weeks and months.

         24                 At the outset, I'm just going to take

         25  a few moments to outline the full breath of the MTA

                                                            14

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  and the various operating agencies. As most of you

          3  know, the MTA is comprised of five entities - New

          4  York City Transit, which runs buses and subways to

          5  New York City; Long Island Railroad, which services

          6  Nassau, Suffolk, parts of Queens, Brooklyn and

          7  Manhattan; MetroNorth which services Westchester and

          8  four other counties, Connecticut and New York City;

          9  Long Island Bus, which operates bus services in

         10  Nassau County and parts of New York City; and

         11  Bridges and Tunnels, which operates the Midtown

         12  Tunnel, the Battery Tunnel, the Verranzano Bridge,

         13  the Triborough Bridge, and five other bridges

         14  throughout the metropolitan region.

         15                 Our annual operating budget is

         16  roughly $7.2 billion and our five-year capital plan,

         17  including bridges and tunnels, is roughly 1.9

         18  billion.

         19                 We employ an estimated 65,000

         20  individuals, each of whom support our daily

         21  operation of transporting over 8 million people in

         22  the metropolitan region.

         23                 The shear size of the system can only

         24  be appreciated by the following two facts. In three

         25  days the MTA moves more people than Amtrak does in
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          2  one year, and in 11 weeks we move more people than

          3  fly the nation's airlines in one year.

          4                 It is interesting to note that our

          5  operating budget alone is substantially larger than

          6  most cities in the United States, including Boston,

          7  Chicago, Miami, Philadelphia, and Atlanta.

          8                 And the Chairman actually advised me

          9  our budget far exceeds most states for that matter.

         10                 By way of background, the MTA's

         11  operating annual budget of over $7 billion in 2001

         12  is shown on a pie chart which I've distributed to

         13  each of you, and which is up on the display here.

         14                 Forty-two percent, or a little over 3

         15  billion was generated in 2000 by fares and other

         16  operating revenues. Twelve percent or roughly 900

         17  million came from tolls. Three percent, or roughly

         18  200 million was from State subsidies, four percent,

         19  or roughly 300 million was from local subsidies

         20  received from various counties we service. 0.5

         21  percent or 39 million was from other subsidies.

         22  Twenty-two percent, or roughly 1.6 billion was

         23  generated by state and regional taxes, 16 percent or

         24  roughly 1.2 billion came from various other sources

         25  in 2001, such as surpluses in prior years.
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          2                 The pie chart to the right roughly

          3  explains where the money went in 2001. Sixty

          4  percent, or over 4.4 billion was allocated to New

          5  York City's subways and buses. 26.46 percent or

          6  roughly 2 billion was allocated to commuter rails,

          7  suburban buses, Staten Island Railway and MTA

          8  headquarters.

          9                 3.8 percent or roughly 288 million

         10  was allocated to bridges and tunnels, and 9.6

         11  percent or roughly 700 million was allocated to debt

         12  service and other expenses.

         13                 These charts, by the way, are

         14  published each year in the MTA's annual report,

         15  which I distributed copies of for the 2001 to each

         16  of you today.

         17                 Every month the MTA Finance Committee

         18  also receives updates on the overall MTA budget, as

         19  well as -- and each of our operating agencies

         20  provides monthly budget reviews and reports to their

         21  respective oversight board committees.

         22                 Every year, as I indicated, we

         23  produce our annual report, as well as our financial,

         24  our disclosure filing reports, and a review of

         25  annual results.
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          2                 All these reports and updates are

          3  distributed to state and local officials, mailed to

          4  persons and entities on our mailing list, and copies

          5  are made available to the media and anyone else who

          6  attends our monthly board meetings, and committee

          7  meetings, by the way. And I distributed some samples

          8  of those reports to the Committee members.

          9                 In recent weeks, as I indicated, the

         10  MTA has been attacked for failing to disclose

         11  documents, engaging in "accounting magic" or using

         12  "foggy finances."

         13                 In preparation for today's hearing, I

         14  reviewed media clips which contain claims that the

         15  MTA ran surpluses in 2002, ranging from 76 million,

         16  500 million to 300 million. Despite my best effort

         17  to determine the bases for these claims. I must

         18  confess, I have no idea where they actually came

         19  from.

         20                 So in an effort to address these

         21  misperception and correct information regarding the

         22  size of the budget, I've developed what I hope to be

         23  a plain English summary of our financial situation.

         24                 I will start through 1996 with the

         25  first full year after our last fare hike, and bring
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          2  you through current day into '03 and '04, and I've

          3  only focused on New York City Transit budget for

          4  purposes of this hearing, but of course I'd answer

          5  any questions regarding the MTA-wide budget.

          6                 And as I indicated to Councilman Liu

          7  when we met earlier this week, one thing I'm not is

          8  a financial wizard unlike my predecessor. And so

          9  what I've tried to do today is actually present a

         10  plain English presentation that I understand, and

         11  hopefully if I understand it, it addresses some of

         12  the needs of the public.

         13                 If you look at Chart Number 2, which

         14  I've distributed, the first thing I want to show is

         15  New York City Transit has experienced a boom in

         16  ridership, as we all know, of roughly 37 percent in

         17  the last several years.

         18                 Almost 3 million more customers each

         19  day, bringing the daily ridership to roughly 7.5

         20  million, and that's an increase of 37 percent, as

         21  indicated.

         22                 Now, an interesting side note to that

         23  development is the fact that the use of our Transit

         24  system for non-work-related trips increased 62

         25  percent since the early 1990s, and now these trips
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          2  represent the majority of subway and bus riders on

          3  our system, or roughly 56 percent.

          4                 This graph also graphically -- this

          5  chart also graphically depicts New York City

          6  Transit's fares since 1996. That was again the last

          7  fare increase, and as you can see it dips down, and

          8  that's mostly because of the introduction of

          9  MetroCard, and I'll get into that in a minute. It

         10  goes up. But since '96, it's only gone up 5.2

         11  percent. So, you can see the difference.

         12                 The fact is that more, it stands to

         13  reason that more riders mean more subways and more

         14  buses on the system.

         15                 In fact, since 1996, we have

         16  increased bus and subway service by $2.8 billion

         17  seat miles, costing almost $300 million annually in

         18  Transit's budget. More and better service, along

         19  with the affects of inflation, means our operating

         20  costs grow faster than ridership.

         21                 As indicated, operating expense in

         22  New York City increased 46 percent, while ridership

         23  grew 37 percent. That's the second chart. The third

         24  chart, I apologize.

         25                 Operating expenses up 36 percent,
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          2  ridership up 37 percent.

          3                 And as we expand our capital

          4  investment in the Transit system, by maintaining the

          5  system in good repair, investing in new technology

          6  subway cars, buying clean fuel buses and expanding

          7  our service lines, our debt service costs increased

          8  commensurately.

          9                 As Chart number four shows, we've

         10  added operating expenses with debt service. Since

         11  1996, through 2004, our operating and debt service

         12  in Transit increases 53.5 percent, far higher than

         13  our operating revenue, and for purposes of this

         14  chart, we define operating revenue as fair and other

         15  miscellaneous, such as rents, concessions and

         16  advertising. That only went up 7.4 percent.

         17                 The next Chart, number 5, uses actual

         18  numbers, showing operating revenue at New York City

         19  Transit growing from 2.8 billion in 1996, to 2.4

         20  billion in '03, while expenses during that time and

         21  debt service climbs from 3 billion to 4.3 to four

         22  and a half billion, in '03 and '04 respectively.

         23                 Our operating deficit, the

         24  differences between expenses and revenues, declined

         25  from 767 million, to 2.1 billion.
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          2                 Now, the next chart, number six,

          3  essentially sums up the entire situation. Subsidies

          4  help make the difference between revenues and

          5  expenses, as we all know, but while subsidies have

          6  grown almost four times faster than revenues, this

          7  has not been enough to sustain us in recent years.

          8                 Seven years ago, with the last fare

          9  increase in '95, we developed a surplus of roughly

         10  $300 million. In 1999, actually beginning in '98 and

         11  then going through 1999 to the present day, begins a

         12  pattern where the operating deficit eclipses our

         13  subsidies. From '99 through 2002, the operating

         14  deficit has been filled each year, these here and

         15  here, has been filled each year by the MTA, through

         16  a combination of the prior year surpluses, that 300

         17  million I mentioned, one-shots, as we call them in

         18  budget parlance, and that I'm referring to, it's

         19  called the spin-up in State subsidy in 2002, of over

         20  300 million, and in '03 and '04, we're going to use

         21  savings generated by our very successful debt

         22  restructuring in initiative.

         23                 As we look at '03 and '04, subsidies

         24  and one-shots are not enough to balance Transit's

         25  budget, leaving the uncovered deficit area, which is
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          2  marked on the chart in red across, the red

          3  cross-hatched area.

          4                 We have this uncovered deficit, even

          5  though we have instituted a cost-savings program in

          6  Transit, totaling more than $615 million in '03 and

          7  '04. Just so you have it, and I meant to put it on

          8  the chart, and I apologize.

          9                 This area in here, if you add up that

         10  uncovered deficit for two years, it's roughly $711

         11  million. That is after we do the cost savings

         12  reductions, the token booths, reductions in

         13  administrative areas, eliminating the token, some of

         14  the things that we discussed, as the Councilman

         15  noted, it is that area we have to fill, after we do

         16  all of that, 711 million in Transit in '03 and '04.

         17                 Now, I just want to pause here, as I

         18  mentioned in the beginning, to lay out that when you

         19  address this uncovered deficit you really only, we

         20  at the MTA only have three tools in our tool box,

         21  so-to-speak, to address the uncovered deficits. They

         22  are increased governmental aid; service reductions

         23  in the number and frequency in trains and buses;

         24  and/or a fare increase.

         25                 Now, clearly the prospect of
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          2  additional aid, as I indicated from you, the City or

          3  State is minimal, giving the magnitude of the

          4  deficits being addressed here in the City and by the

          5  Council and Mayor, as well as by the Governor, the

          6  State level with the State Legislature.

          7                 In preparing our financial plan, we

          8  assumed no additional governmental subsidies in '03,

          9  but I must underscore, we also assumed no

         10  reductions.

         11                 Now, both the Chairman Calico and I

         12  know that that assumption that there will not be

         13  reductions from the state or other localities is not

         14  -- is a risky one, given the magnitude of the

         15  problems being addressed. We do not take that

         16  assumption lightly. We will be fighting for what we

         17  have this year, so that we do not see a reduction in

         18  our subsidy.

         19                 But even assuming that, and assuming

         20  we don't get any additional aid, we are basically

         21  left with two options, service cuts or a fare

         22  increase or a combination of both.

         23                 The magnitude of service reductions

         24  necessary to fill the uncovered deficit of $711

         25  million would be at a level unacceptable from any
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          2  perspective. As such, the MTA Board developed three

          3  alternative fare increase options, which were

          4  unveiled, as I said earlier, two months ago at our

          5  November Board meeting, and have been available, by

          6  the way, for public review and comment since that

          7  time on our website www.mta.info, and we've

          8  received, I think it was 2,000 comments, and we

          9  continue to collect those.

         10                 The Board has also authorized a

         11  scheduling of ten public hearings, five of which are

         12  here in New York City, to discuss these fare

         13  options, as well as other cost-saving measures

         14  designed to balance the budget.

         15                 The public hearing schedule has been

         16  posted in the stations and on buses, has been

         17  published twice this week in the Regent's Daily

         18  Newspapers, and has been posted on our website since

         19  Monday.

         20                 I have also sent letters to elected

         21  officials, elected City, state and federal

         22  officials, making them aware of the hearing and the

         23  issues under consideration.

         24                 As I believe you are aware, the five

         25  options under consideration are as follows: Option
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          2  A. Increasing the base fare from $1.50 to $1.75,

          3  which, along with a smaller percentage increase in

          4  the current MetroCard passes, raise the average fare

          5  by 10 percent, from $1.04 today to $1.14.

          6                 This option would, however, include

          7  service reductions, such as a ten percent reduction

          8  in weekday subway service and bus services --

          9  weekend, a two percent reduction in weekday

         10  services, and a 15 percent reduction in cleaners.

         11                 The second option, Option B,

         12  increases the base fare to $2, and an increase in

         13  MetroCard passes by a smaller percentage, thereby

         14  increasing the average fare by 20 percent from,

         15  again, the current number which is $1.04, to $1.24.

         16                 While this option eliminates the

         17  needs for the service reductions I just mentioned,

         18  it does assume an increase in governmental

         19  assistance in '04 of roughly $122 million.

         20                 Option C would provide for a 33.3

         21  percent increase in the average fare from $1.04 to

         22  $1.39, or essentially what it was in 1996.

         23                 This increase would be achieved by

         24  raising the base fare to $2, and increasing the cost

         25  of MetroCard passes proportionately.
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          2                 This option would cover the possible

          3  cost of various contingencies, including a worsening

          4  economy, and a reduction in governmental assistance,

          5  and it also eliminates the need for increased

          6  governmental assistance in '04.

          7                 As you reflect on these options, I

          8  would point out that if the current fare of $1.04,

          9  the current average fare of $1.04 was adjusted for

         10  inflation, since 1996, it would be $1.88 or 33

         11  percent higher, the same average fare that existed

         12  in 1996. Now, obviously a fare increase of any

         13  magnitude will present a hardship for many of our

         14  customers, particularly in today's academic times.

         15                 But as I know each of you are acutely

         16  aware, every public and private entity is struggling

         17  to meet the shortfalls caused by the downturn in the

         18  economy. The MTA Board takes this matter very

         19  seriously and is committed to soliciting public

         20  comment on this matter, before taking any final

         21  action.

         22                 The Board has also undertaken various

         23  cost reduction measures, as I indicated, designed to

         24  reduce expenditures.

         25                 New York City alone, 40 percent of
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          2  its budget reductions achieved through cutbacks in

          3  administrative areas and in agency-wide allocations.

          4                 As you know, a reduction in token

          5  booths throughout the system is being contemplated

          6  by the board as part of that initiative and will be

          7  part of the public hearing process I just mentioned.

          8                 Earlier this week I sent a letter to

          9  each elected official in the City, including the

         10  Committee members here today, advising them of the

         11  token booth closings in their district under

         12  consideration. That list has also been posted on our

         13  website, and posters have been put up in every

         14  affected station for public inspection.

         15                 Notably, blueprints for each of those

         16  affected stations and token booths under

         17  consideration, are not only in those stations, but

         18  they could be accessed via our website and people

         19  can print them out on their computer.

         20                 The token booth reduction includes

         21  177 booths throughout the system of roughly 725

         22  booths, or 24 percent reductions. Forty-nine of

         23  those booths are full-time and the balance are part

         24  time.

         25                 In identifying the booths for
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          2  closure, Transit focused on secondary booths and

          3  stations with relatively low entry and low volumes.

          4                 With the exception of eight locations

          5  that enter into privately-owned buildings, and are

          6  closed at certain hours, all proposed stations will

          7  include a full-time booth operating 24/7.

          8                 In addition, all affected entrances,

          9  including those opened only part-time before, will

         10  be accessible 24 hours a day through the MetroCard

         11  activated high entry and exit turnstiles.

         12                 We appreciate the significance of

         13  some token booth presence in our various stations,

         14  which is why every affected station will maintain

         15  full-time, a full-time booth in the complex.

         16                 It is also to keep -- it is also

         17  important to keep in mind, however, that the MTA

         18  significant investment in MetroCard and it's

         19  enormously successful transition, to MetroCard is

         20  the primary fare instrument, was intended to move

         21  New York City Transit into a state-of-the-art system

         22  and reduce reliance on token booths as the primary

         23  means of purchasing fare instruments.

         24                 Nearly 85 percent of our customers

         25  today use a MetroCard. Fifty-six percent of those
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          2  that purchase them in our stations use our MetroCard

          3  Vending Machines or MVMs, as they're called. They

          4  have been installed virtually in all stations.

          5                 As ATMs have become the primary means

          6  for most people to perform routine banking

          7  activities, so, too, have our MVMs become the

          8  primary mechanisms for accessing our fare card.

          9                 Notably, in recent surveys, 67

         10  percent of customers using our MVMs, have rated them

         11  either excellent or very good.

         12                 Let me underscore that as with the

         13  fare increase the proposals to either eliminate the

         14  token and/or close the token booth clerks, will be

         15  the subject once again of the Board's month-long

         16  process, hearing process. We will receive, the Board

         17  will receive and consider public comments on these

         18  ideas, and only after that will reach a final

         19  determination.

         20                 Now, before ending my remarks, I want

         21  to return to the recent criticisms that have been

         22  made about the MTA, and the perception that our

         23  finances and operations are not available for public

         24  inspection.

         25                 And I use the term perception
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          2  intentionally, as I firmly believe the MTA provides

          3  more financial and operational information to the

          4  public and elected officials than most governmental

          5  agencies.

          6                 All the materials are either on the

          7  website or mailed to people on a mailing list, and

          8  are available to the public and the media at our

          9  monthly committee and board meeting.

         10                 Some have claimed that you need an

         11  accounting degree to analyze our annual financial

         12  statement, and the fact is, you do.

         13                 We have outside auditors, an auditor

         14  general, the local and State Comptrollers, who

         15  review those documents. Our documents meet

         16  governmental accounting standards, and in fact,

         17  we've been the recipient of an award for each of the

         18  last seven years, from the Governmental Finance

         19  Officers' Association for Excellence and Financial

         20  Reporting.

         21                 The award is given to public agencies

         22  that issue reports, and I quote, "demonstrating a

         23  constructive spirit of full disclosure to

         24  communicate its financial story."

         25                 Now, this is not to say that someone
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          2  with a limited financial background can easily grasp

          3  the information, any more than one can easily grasp

          4  the details of the City's finances, from reading its

          5  statements.

          6                 Now, understanding the MTA needs to

          7  make a concerted effort to have its financial

          8  information available to the public in a plain

          9  English manner, we are developing a report as we

         10  speak which will meet this standard, and we will

         11  post it every month on our website for public

         12  review. The report will be designed, and again, I'm

         13  going to use myself as a standard, it will be

         14  designed to provide an update on the status of our

         15  budget, expenses and revenues for the preceding

         16  period.

         17                 Now, I'll caution everyone, given the

         18  complexities of the MTA's budget of $7.2 billion,

         19  and a five-year capital plan of over 19 billion, not

         20  all budget information can be reduced down to a

         21  plain English level. However, key budget information

         22  can and will be provided.

         23                 The second initiative that we will be

         24  undertaking will be to post key monthly performance

         25  indicators for each of our five operating agencies.
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          2                 They will be posted on a website

          3  every month. This data will include monthly

          4  ridership figures, again to be broken down by

          5  agency, on-time performance data, mean distance

          6  between failure numbers, route adherence numbers,

          7  wait times, fare box recovery ratios and fare box

          8  operating ratios, just to mention a few.

          9                 We expect to implement this

         10  initiative no later than April, and I will note that

         11  while this information is distributed every month at

         12  our committee and board meetings, clearly the

         13  website will allow greater public access to that

         14  information, because I very firmly believe the

         15  public needs to know what they're paying for.

         16                 And, thirdly, the MTA will launch its

         17  public e-mail system by March of this year.

         18                 Our customers have understandably

         19  been frustrated by the fact that you cannot send

         20  comments to us via e-mail and receive a prompt

         21  reply, with exception of the material we put on

         22  regarding the fare information earlier this month,

         23  no one can actually send e-mails to the MTA on other

         24  information.

         25                 I appreciate that frustration, we
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          2  will be addressing, and as I said, by March of this

          3  year that will be addressed.

          4                 Now, again, I hope my testimony here

          5  this morning has addressed some of the key concerns

          6  of the Committee and I would be happy to answer any

          7  questions you might have in this area, or any

          8  related area.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much,

         10  Madam Director.

         11                 Before we continue, we have been

         12  joined by Council Member Joe Addabbo, from Queens,

         13  Council Member Larry Seabrook from the Bronx, and

         14  Council Member Miguel Martinez from Manhattan, and

         15  Council Member Andrew Lanza from Staten Island.

         16  Welcome all.

         17                 And thank you very much for your

         18  frank comments. I think that we have shared many of

         19  the frustrations, probably for different reasons,

         20  but I know that members of this Committee, as well

         21  as our other colleagues in the City Council, and

         22  various organizations, as well as individuals in the

         23  public have been frustrated over the last, I'd say

         24  close to a year at this point, and we've been

         25  frustrated over the lack of readily understandable

                                                            34

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  information.

          3                 Now, you state very clearly that this

          4  $2.7 billion number has been publicly available ever

          5  since the November Board meeting of the MTA, and

          6  prior to that, was any of that information

          7  available, or was that really just prepared in time

          8  for the MTA Board meeting in mid-November?

          9                 MS. LAPP: Actually, I've distributed

         10  a report to the members that I actually prepared.

         11  There have been statements that we never uncovered

         12  our deficit prior to the November Board, and the

         13  document before you that has, it says December '02

         14  in there, was prepared by me out of frustration. The

         15  fact is, as far back, as you look at some of this

         16  material, as far back as, say, '01 and certainly by

         17  March of 2002, we were reporting at least a deficit

         18  of $663 million for '03. It was in news reports, it

         19  was in our disclosure documents that we had

         20  disclosed to our rating agencies, when we were

         21  seeking ratings of our bonds, which by the way, as a

         22  result of that, in disclosing all of that material,

         23  which was in the bond buyer in March of 2001 and in

         24  the Daily News, I believe, or one of the other local

         25  newspapers in April, the rating agencies reviewed
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          2  all our documents and they upgraded our bonds by at

          3  least one, if not two, notches.

          4                 So, yes, the numbers were out there.

          5  People have expressed a little confusion as to how

          6  it went from at least 663 million up to about a

          7  billion in '03, in November, that's when we put out

          8  that number. And, well, first of all, let me just

          9  say, as I know you know from the City's finances,

         10  you're never exactly sure, until you actually start

         11  to close the books, what your deficit will be. You

         12  don't know where the revenues are going or what your

         13  expenses look like, et cetera. That's one

         14  explanation.

         15                 And the second explanation also is

         16  the fact that the 663 number was actually a net

         17  number. As Gary explained in further detail, the

         18  deficit was roughly 900 million, but we assumed, as

         19  we received savings through our debt restructuring

         20  initiative of over 200 million, so that was a net

         21  number, the gross number was really 900, which then

         22  grew to a billion when we finally calculated it in

         23  November for '03.

         24                 So those numbers are out there and

         25  this document shows that we reported, as far back as
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          2  December '01 there was a report from the State

          3  Comptroller where we acknowledge a deficit. He said

          4  it was probably higher, but he did acknowledge the

          5  fact that we reported at least a several hundred

          6  million dollar deficit for '03, as far back as

          7  December '01. And also there were some news reports

          8  that indicated that we did not do our budget

          9  presentation til the end of November, because of the

         10  election. And I would challenge anyone that makes

         11  that statement to go back in MTA history and find

         12  out when our financial plan is presented. It is

         13  always presented at the November Board meeting.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: You mentioned that

         15  in early November, or perhaps even in October, the

         16  projected deficit was 900 million, or I guess 683

         17  million on a net basis.

         18                 MS. LAPP: Correct.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Is that just for one

         20  year '03, or is that combined?

         21                 MS. LAPP: That was just for '03.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Just '03?

         23                 MS. LAPP: Yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And at that same

         25  time, had the MTA ever publicly spoken about the
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          2  projected deficit for '04, as well?

          3                 MS. LAPP: No.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Because I seem to

          5  recall in all the news reports, and even in Gary's

          6  testimony in October, the focus was always on this

          7  six to seven-hundred million dollar deficit. If that

          8  indeed was for just one year, why then all of a

          9  sudden a month later did the MTA start to focus on a

         10  two-year combined deficit, and put that in from the

         11  public? Particularly in advance of the negotiations

         12  for the contract, and now, of course, in advance of

         13  these public hearings that will, I guess, air out

         14  any concerns about the possible fare hike?

         15                 MS. LAPP: Well, I'm going to let Gary

         16  answer a little bit more detail.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. But I don't

         18  even think that that is a financial question.

         19                 MS. LAPP: No, it's a presentation.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.

         21                 MS. LAPP: That's what I wanted to get

         22  to, and then he can discuss what he may have said or

         23  not said at the hearing.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay, thank you.

         25                 MS. LAPP: When we were putting the
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          2  budget together, and the fact is, as you know,

          3  Council member, this is the first time I've actually

          4  done this, I only been here for a year.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: We appreciate it.

          6                 MS. LAPP: We discussed that.

          7                 As we were putting the budget

          8  together and we were explaining when Gary and

          9  company, we were going through the books, one of the

         10  things that I was trying to do, as the Chairman was

         11  attempting to do, was to show people that this is

         12  not a deficit that is just one year that we can fix

         13  through some one-shots, some spinoff of aid, et

         14  cetera, that this was a deficit that was a

         15  structural deficit for the next two years.

         16                 We wanted to make the point, again we

         17  did not want to mislead people. We laid it out, and

         18  as I showed you in the chart before, we laid it out

         19  in two years, and we showed how we were going to fix

         20  it in those two years. It was an attempt, maybe it

         21  was a failed attempt, to really lay out for people,

         22  perhaps for the first time, and Gary will be able to

         23  know if we've done this before, but I wanted to show

         24  it, just like the City does a four-year financial

         25  plan, I wanted to start doing, you know, at least
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          2  two years, and maybe three years, as we start to

          3  roll out, that people understand where we're going

          4  and what we're expecting. In prior years, at least

          5  in the two or three years before I got here, I think

          6  we only did it year by year. So, that was my effort,

          7  those were the Calico's efforts, they were not

          8  intended in any way to address or influence

          9  so-to-speak the Transit negotiation.

         10                 The Transit contract, as we all know,

         11  was up on December 15th. We run on a calendar year

         12  basis. The Board must have its financial plan

         13  presented in a November Plan, in the November Board,

         14  I should say, and it is something we adopt in the

         15  December Board meeting. So, that's just the timing,

         16  the timing of the Transit contract was December

         17  15th. But we had to disclose these figures, and it

         18  was not an attempt to oversell our problem, it was a

         19  factual presentation.

         20                 So, I'm going to let Gary go a little

         21  further, if you don't mind.

         22                 MR. CAPLAN: (Not identified for the

         23  record.) Our normal practice has been for, you know,

         24  almost generations, to at the time we do a budget,

         25  do financial projections to carry us through the end
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          2  of the capital program that we're in. So, for

          3  example, when we do the 2000 budget, we provided

          4  projections and went from 2000 to 2004. Next year

          5  we're doing 2001 budget, and so we provided

          6  projections that go from 2001 to 2004. Came November

          7  of 2001, after 9/11, we said the situation is just,

          8  you know, so cloudy that we have to depart from our

          9  normal process, and we are not able to go beyond the

         10  then current budget year.

         11                 As soon as we were able to do that,

         12  we did the new projection, which is the new

         13  projection that Katie referred to, the 663, the 933

         14  projection, and that came out in basically very

         15  early in the second quarter of 2002. Comes this

         16  November we go back to the normal pattern, so we

         17  have presented projections for 2003 and 2004 which

         18  carries us through the end of our current capital

         19  program period, and that's the explanation.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Since you mentioned

         21  the difficulties in 2001, and I would address this

         22  to the both of you, even though I realize that 2001

         23  precedes most of your tenure; before September 11th

         24  of 2001, wasn't the agency already projecting

         25  deficits for the following fiscal year, and calling
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          2  for possible fare increases in 2001 prior to

          3  September 11th?

          4                 MR. CAPLAN: I do not remember us

          5  calling for fare increases. We did have our

          6  projections, and that's the point that Katie has

          7  been making. We have been talking about the

          8  financial condition of this period, the 2000-2004

          9  period for several years.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: In 2001, had the MTA

         11  talked about a six or seven-hundred million dollar

         12  operating deficit for the following fiscal year,

         13  prior to September 11th?

         14                 MR. CAPLAN: Let's go to the 2002

         15  budget. We talked about actually, it was a $794

         16  million deficit for the year 2002, okay?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Projected back in

         18  mid-2001?

         19                 MR. CAPLAN: No, this is at the same

         20  time, the November presentation that Katie has been

         21  referring to. So, in November we're talking, or

         22  maybe it was the month before, we were talking about

         23  a $794 million gap.

         24                 When it came time to adopt the

         25  budgets, basically we said two things; first, that
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          2  through a variety of measures, which included some

          3  additional insurance receipts, a variety of

          4  measures, we had lowered that number from $794 down

          5  to let's say approximately 350, okay?

          6                 Second step. The Governor says he

          7  will provide, as he did in his budget, and

          8  additional $350 million to close that remaining gap.

          9  So, by the time we actually adopt the budgets, in

         10  December, we have built in the assumptions, first

         11  the internal actions to reduce the gap down from 794

         12  to approximately 350, and then we put in what the

         13  Governor said he would include in his budget. So

         14  that the budgets that were passed in that December

         15  were balanced.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: At the time that you

         17  were able to close this anticipated gap for 2002,

         18  that gap of 794, which was I guess closed by some

         19  changes that you made within your agency, as well as

         20  an additional $350 million from the State of New

         21  York, at that time did the MTA consider that deficit

         22  to be a structural deficit, using the terminology

         23  you used prior? Or was that just a one-year deficit?

         24                 MR. CAPLAN: That deficit at that

         25  point, we had only done projections, I just
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          2  explained, we had only done projections for the 2002

          3  budget year because of the uncertainty after 9/11.

          4  We just went down, we tried to do them, there was

          5  just a wide range of reasonable assumptions, that it

          6  was just technically impossible to come up with the

          7  projections, and so we told everybody, we can't do

          8  it. We can't produce anything meaningful, for which

          9  we were slammed in newspapers and all over.

         10                 Now that we are going back to our

         11  normal multi-year projections, we're getting some

         12  criticism for that.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So I just want to

         14  confirm what you said, in late 2001 you knew that --

         15  well, you anticipated a deficit for the following

         16  fiscal year of $794 million.

         17                 MR. CAPLAN: Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: That was able to be

         19  closed. But at that time you had no idea whether

         20  that was just a one-year deficit or a potentially

         21  structural deficit that would persist in following

         22  years?

         23                 MR. CAPLAN: Because of the

         24  uncertainty in the assumptions, we were not able to

         25  produce meaningful numbers for the outyears. I mean,
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          2  the criticism has been that our numbers aren't

          3  meaningful. No, we put out meaningful numbers, and

          4  when we say the numbers can't be done in a

          5  meaningful way, we're just not going to do them.

          6                 MS. LAPP: And the fact is, as I

          7  indicated in my remarks, the State did, the State

          8  did spinoff, as you noted, $350 million of the

          9  subsidy from '03 into '02. That was done by the

         10  Governor and the State Legislature, as mentioned, by

         11  the way, in the Independent Budget Office report

         12  that came out yesterday, that was done, as Gary

         13  indicated. My understanding is the Governor, the MTA

         14  and the Governor's Office sat down with the

         15  Legislature and said that New Yorkers, if the only

         16  way you can close your gap so-to-speak was through

         17  some major service reductions, et cetera, they were

         18  willing to spin up the subsidy and say let's get

         19  through 2002. New Yorkers have had enough heartache

         20  after 9/11, let's get through 2002, let's see how it

         21  goes through 2002 and let's see what available tools

         22  you have, let's see what happens with the economy,

         23  let's see whether we have any subsidies available to

         24  us.

         25                 We all know that that doesn't exist
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          2  now, so --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. I do have two

          4  more items that I have questions about, and then I

          5  will ask my colleagues to offer their questions to

          6  you, as well.

          7                 MS. LAPP: Sure.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I will ask for your

          9  patience in going over the numbers you presented to

         10  us at the beginning of your testimony. I don't

         11  believe, as you mentioned, those were thrown

         12  together this morning so we don't have copies of it.

         13                 MS. LAPP: Right.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So it will be

         15  helpful to myself, as well as to my colleagues who

         16  weren't here at that time to look over those

         17  numbers.

         18                 MS. LAPP: Sure.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And in particular

         20  I'm interested in your particular dispute about the

         21  Independent Budget Office's assertion that the

         22  deficit is really only about $952 million over the

         23  next two years.

         24                 MS. LAPP: Do you want me to go

         25  through that again?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: If you could,

          3  please.

          4                 MS. LAPP: Okay. I just wanted to

          5  clarify something. You indicated we threw the charts

          6  together, actually these charts were handed out in

          7  November, on November 22nd, to every reporter,

          8  everyone that attended our Board meeting. But when I

          9  said I threw it together, I just brought the disk

         10  down from November. So, I apologize. I didn't think

         11  I would have to deal with this this morning.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you for

         13  dealing with it.

         14                 MS. LAPP: This was a chart that was

         15  presented and discussed at length at our Board

         16  meeting. It shows how we end '02, and, again, I just

         17  remind people, we are on a calendar year fiscal

         18  basis, so in '02 we basically ran somewhat of a

         19  surplus, 15 million in Transit, and under 10 million

         20  in the commuter rails.

         21                 Now, let's also put this in

         22  perspective. When you add that up, it's roughly 25

         23  million. Just remember our operating deficit is 7.2

         24  billion. So, 25 million, while helpful, it's not a

         25  hugely significant number.
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          2                 When you look at '03, Transit has a

          3  deficit of a little over 800 million, and it grows

          4  to slightly 1.2 billion essentially in '04, adding

          5  up to $2 billion.

          6                 Transit, the commuter rails have a

          7  deficit in '03 of 294 million, and a deficit of a

          8  little over 500 million in '04, adding up to 789

          9  million. When you add those two numbers together,

         10  there's your 2.8 billion.

         11                 The next chart was presented. This is

         12  the chart we used to discuss the Option A that I

         13  talked about, the $1.75 base fare. You have here a

         14  $2 billion number.

         15                 We subtract from the 2.8 billion,

         16  it's a little over 600 million. That money, by the

         17  way, was generated through our debt restructuring

         18  initiative. We restructured our debt beginning early

         19  in 2002, and the timing was very helpful to us

         20  because the interest rates were so low, that we were

         21  able to generate savings in our operating budget of

         22  almost 600 million over two years. Without that, by

         23  the way, without that debt restructuring, I can tell

         24  you we would have been in a much worse position

         25  today.
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          2                 We then went to our agencies,

          3  Transit, Long Island Railroad, MetroNorth, et

          4  cetera. We asked them for their plans to eliminate

          5  the gap. Their reduction exercises. That adds up to

          6  972 million. Where in '02, in '04 we're going to

          7  continue to reduce expenditures, looking for roughly

          8  77 million.

          9                 Corporate restructuring, and I'll get

         10  to that, if you would like, Council member, as the

         11  MTA has recently announced, we would like to

         12  restructure our agencies. We expect out of that to

         13  get at least 30 million in say '04, hopefully we

         14  will get more, and we expect savings to actually

         15  come in in '05 and '06.

         16                 And then we have a hole, that we

         17  figured we would ask, in '04 only, for additional

         18  governmental aid of 120 million. It may be

         19  optimistic, but we asked for it.

         20                 All those things, those are

         21  reductions, those are reductions we all agreed upon.

         22  1.8 billion. When you subtract the 1.8 from the

         23  2.76, you come up with the net gap of 951.4 or the

         24  952 that is reported by IBO, and the Daily News

         25  papers today. That is the net gap that needs to be
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          2  filled by three things: more governmental

          3  assistance; service reductions; or a fare increase;

          4  or a combination of any of those.

          5                 So, the gross gap, as you indicated,

          6  Council member, is 2.8 over two years. When you do

          7  all the exercises I just talked about, it nets down

          8  to 900 million, and that is the problem that we're

          9  trying to address through the various fare scenarios

         10  I laid out in my remarks, Options A, B and C.

         11                 Again, this chart has been available

         12  since November 22nd, distributed, discussed, we've

         13  reported it. And the IBO actually acknowledges that

         14  in their report.

         15                 They say the 2.8 billion is a gross,

         16  and after they do their cost-saving measures, which

         17  by the way, have understandably received great

         18  criticism by a variety of people, including the

         19  public, and we appreciate that, you get down to a

         20  951, 952 number. And the IBO report has the exact

         21  same numbers.

         22                 So, it's the difference between

         23  looking at a gross gap or a net gap, and that's the

         24  truth, those are the numbers. And these numbers,

         25  again, I'll distribute these charts as soon as I

                                                            50

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  have them, my staff is going to run back and get

          3  them, but, again, you can understand why I'm fairly

          4  frustrated, because I went through this chart, as

          5  did Gary, on November 22nd, and we distributed it to

          6  everyone that was present. We answered questions.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So are those

          8  possible solutions or are they not realistic?

          9                 MS. LAPP: The only one that I think

         10  that we have, one could argue is a little

         11  optimistic, is the additional governmental

         12  assistance in '04. And if you flip to Option C, the

         13  next one, there you go. Option C, you can see we

         14  zeroed out the governmental assistance of 122

         15  million, because most people would say you're crazy

         16  if you think you're going to get that from any City,

         17  the City, the State or any other locality, people

         18  don't have that money. If you zero that out, the

         19  problem we're facing is 1.7 billion, and the way we

         20  would close that would be a $2 base fare, with a

         21  33.3 percent increase in MetroCard passes. That

         22  would alleviate, that would balance that all out.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Right. But I mean,

         24  still, I think if you continue the claim of a $2.7

         25  billion deficit, and completely disagree with what
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          2  the IBO says is really the gap to be plugged with

          3  these potential service reductions or potential fare

          4  increases.

          5                 Aren't you either saying that those

          6  possible solutions are unrealistic, $1.7 billion? I

          7  mean, what are you saying then?

          8                 MS. LAPP: No, what I'm saying is --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: That's not what

         10  you're saying?

         11                 MS. LAPP: No. Let's go back to A.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I mean, the MTA is

         13  claiming that there's a $2.7 billion deficit.

         14                 MS. LAPP: Right. Without a doubt,

         15  okay.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay, the IBO is

         17  saying that the gap is really $952 million.

         18                 MS. LAPP: Right.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Let's assume just

         20  for the purposes of this hearing that $121 million

         21  in additional government subsidies is unrealistic,

         22  just for the purposes of this hearing.

         23                 MS. LAPP: Right.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Then you add that to

         25  the $952 million that the IBO is saying, and you
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          2  still got about a billion dollar deficit.

          3                 MS. LAPP: That's correct.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: But that's still

          5  very different from the 2.7. So, are you saying that

          6  all of those four items, the debt restructuring, the

          7  agency operating peg programs -- well, those two are

          8  the big ones, are those unrealistic --

          9                 MS. LAPP: No.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:-- Possible

         11  solutions?

         12                 MS. LAPP: No.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Can they be

         14  implemented then?

         15                 MS. LAPP: Yes. That's what -- first

         16  of all, I'm just going to quote from the IBO report,

         17  because I think people may have misread it.

         18                 The MTA Financial Plan for '03 and

         19  '04 released last month projected a deficit of 1.08

         20  for '03 and 1.69 for '04 for the MTA. These figures

         21  were widely reported to the press. Those projections

         22  were for the budget gap before taking steps outlined

         23  in the financial plan, in our financial plan to

         24  confront the shortfall.

         25                 Following its plan debt restructuring
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          2  and cost cutting measures, the MTA estimated, the

          3  MTA estimated, not somebody else, we estimated its

          4  remaining gap before any fare increase to be 236 in

          5  '03, 716 million in '04, or your 952.

          6                 So, my only point, and I don't mean

          7  to be disrespectful in any way, and, again, it's

          8  probably because I didn't bring copies of these

          9  charts, but the IBO numbers are our numbers. They

         10  acknowledge we reported 2.8 and 952. They

         11  acknowledge that. They're saying, they're making a

         12  difference, they're stating what I've been saying,

         13  the 2.8 is the gross deficit, the 952 is the net

         14  deficit.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you for your

         16  patience in helping us understand this.

         17                 MS. LAPP: Maybe I'm not making myself

         18  clear.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And just, I'm still

         20  looking at the IBO report, and, you know, I'm not

         21  echoing what the news reports say, I'm simply

         22  looking at the IBO report and your own contention

         23  that the IBO number is accurate, if those potential

         24  solutions are enacted.

         25                 Are those possible solutions going to
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          2  be enacted?

          3                 MS. LAPP: Yes. Well, let me put it

          4  this way.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Is the plan for the

          6  MTA to implement those potential solutions, and

          7  specifically I'm talking about the first four, debt

          8  restructuring and savings --

          9                 MS. LAPP: Debt restructuring. Let's

         10  take them one at a time. Debt restructuring. We have

         11  that. That is coming into our revenues in '03 and

         12  '04. We have that money.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And that's a great

         14  job.

         15                 MS. LAPP: Right. And thanks to Gary,

         16  I don't deserve any of that thanks.

         17                 The operating programs. We have a

         18  little over $972 million through Transit, Long

         19  Island Railroad, MetroNorth, Bridges and Tunnels and

         20  Long Island Bus, as well as headquarters. Those are

         21  programs to reduce. Some of those include -- 25

         22  million in that number, by the way, is the token

         23  booth reductions that we propose. Six-million of

         24  that number is the elimination of the token. Forty

         25  percent of this number in Transit is through various
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          2  administrative cutbacks. They're taking, you know,

          3  we've gone through there, and we're going to

          4  continue to go through those budgets with a fine

          5  toothcomb to find ways that are not service related.

          6  We don't want to cut frequency of trains, frequency

          7  of buses, we don't want to do that. I know none of

          8  the members here really want to do that.

          9                 We're going to try and avoid that. In

         10  '04, and you can call me back in '03 and I'll tell

         11  you how we're doing getting to that 77 million or 78

         12  million in additional pay. To be perfectly honest,

         13  in a budget of 7.2 billion, I think finding an

         14  additional 78 million is something that is fairly

         15  reasonable.

         16                 Corporate restructuring. Let me just

         17  take a moment to describe that, as Councilman

         18  indicated, I believe it was in October Chairman

         19  Calico announced an initiative that he was

         20  undertaking supported by the Governor, was to

         21  restructure the MTA. We have two railroads,

         22  essentially Long Island Bus in Nassau services just

         23  Nassau and parts of Queens. We also run buses in the

         24  City, as you know. We have subways. We also have a

         25  fairly aggressive capital plan of new projects, like
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          2  East Side Access, like the Second Avenue subway, the

          3  number 7 train extension. Huge capital programs that

          4  need a lot of attention.

          5                 So, what he has proposed is to

          6  reorganize and do the following, create an MTA

          7  railroad company, merge the administrative

          8  structures of MetroNorth and Long Island Railroad.

          9  They are two separate entities today, run by two

         10  separate presidents, two legal bureaus, two budget

         11  bureaus, two press offices and so on and so on.

         12                 We propose to merge at the top in the

         13  administrative areas those two railroads and to get

         14  economies of scale out of uniformity, and scaling

         15  down over, you know, the administrative bureaucratic

         16  oversight.

         17                 We also propose to create a bus

         18  company. We would like to put Long Island Bus and

         19  New York City buses that we run in New York City

         20  together under one bus company.

         21                 Surface Transit presents some unique

         22  issues different than subways. We would like to put

         23  them together, get some economies of scale, as I

         24  said Long Island Bus does go into Queens, but it's a

         25  separate company than New York City Transit. So we'd
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          2  like to create a bus company. That also would

          3  facilitate some of the issues that I know of

          4  percolating, and the City, in terms of taking over

          5  some of the private buses, we would put that in that

          6  company.

          7                 We would create a New York City

          8  subway company, focusing only on subways. And we

          9  would create a capital company. A capital company

         10  would take over the management and oversight of what

         11  I call mega projects, projects that go over a

         12  billion dollars, and they would focus on that and

         13  bring those projects in, and finally we would keep

         14  bridges and tunnels.

         15                 That restructuring, some of which

         16  needs State Legislative approval, some we can do on

         17  our own through Board action. I can tell you, based

         18  on my year tenure in MTA, that the projection of $30

         19  million in the beginning of this restructuring is a

         20  very sound number.

         21                 What the Chairman and I would like to

         22  see in '05, '06, '07, '08, is many, many hundreds of

         23  millions of dollars more in savings through that

         24  type of restructuring slimming down, refocusing, et

         25  cetera.
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          2                 So, that 30 million that we have

          3  listed there, I can tell you just from my experience

          4  is a valid number.

          5                 And then '04, additional governmental

          6  aid, as you indicated, is probably not optimistic,

          7  but it's something that the Board, the Board asked

          8  that we put that in there.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you for the

         10  very thorough explanation. And just so we're all

         11  clear about this, when the public is presented with

         12  these different combinations of fare increases and

         13  service cuts, the deficit over the next two years

         14  that the MTA is facing is not the $2.7 billion, but

         15  is about a $1.05 billion number that we're looking

         16  at; is that true or not true?

         17                 MS. LAPP: Again, I would just go back

         18  to definition. The gross gap is 2.8 million, or 2.79

         19  -- billion. Billion.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And you have $1.7

         21  billion of potential solutions that will be enacted.

         22                 MS. LAPP: That we are working on now

         23  to enact, yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So those are done.

         25                 MS. LAPP: Not all of them. Some of
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          2  them. We are working to do that now.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, the $630

          4  million of debt restructuring --

          5                 MS. LAPP: We have that.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: That's done?

          7                 MS. LAPP: Right.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Good job.

          9                 MS. LAPP: We're doing the peg

         10  program. Program to eliminate the gap, to get that

         11  $972 million.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And that is done?

         13                 MS. LAPP: Over two years. That is

         14  being done. Those cuts are being implemented. I will

         15  stop here.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: It's being done, but

         17  it will be done?

         18                 MS. LAPP: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.

         20                 MS. LAPP: But let me just interrupt.

         21  I apologize, because we're going to get into, no

         22  doubt, the token booth closings that we have on.

         23                 As I indicated, I just said, in that

         24  number, this $25 million we expect to get through

         25  token booth closings, we would phase them in July
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          2  and December of this year, about 177 booths that I

          3  mentioned in my remarks.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. Out of that

          5  972, roughly what would be the cost of --

          6                 MS. LAPP: Twenty-five million.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. I'm actually

          8  not really sure why that 25 million would be up

          9  there, as opposed to the line down below that says

         10  agency's additional service cuts.

         11                 MS. LAPP: Let me --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Why don't we take

         13  that 25 million out, just for argument's sake.

         14                 MS. LAPP: Okay.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Let's say if we

         16  don't do the token booth closings, let's take the 25

         17  million out of that. You still have a billion, $1.7

         18  billion of cuts that the agency is and will be able

         19  to enact. And so, I'm trying to get at what exactly

         20  is it that you're asking New Yorkers to consider in

         21  terms of when you ask them to consider a fare

         22  increase versus service cuts, what is the gap that

         23  they have to look at? Is it 2.7 billion, or is it

         24  just a little bit shy over a billion?

         25                 MS. LAPP: Well, let me ask you this
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          2  question, if I may turn the tables for a second.

          3                 Do you say that it would be

          4  unreasonable and less than optimistic that we, the

          5  MTA, could through effective lobbying, get from the

          6  State Legislature, from our localities, roughly 120

          7  million more in aid, in subsidy today. If you take

          8  that off, cross that out, and --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Why don't you just

         10  go straight to Exhibit 3.

         11                 MS. LAPP: Yes. That would be better.

         12  That would be better, because that's exactly what

         13  Exhibit 3 is. Exhibit 3 takes out that 122. And, so,

         14  that means, and I can say that many of our

         15  advocates, the people that challenge us, say you

         16  should get, you should be much harder on Albany, you

         17  should be harder on the City of New York, because I

         18  will add that subsidies from the City of New York,

         19  to the MTA, have declined. Have declined since 199

         20  -- I guess, 6; is that correct? Something like

         21  that. 1996, our subsidy, it is at the bare minimum

         22  today. The State's is higher. New York City's is

         23  lower. As is other counties.

         24                 So, there have been people that have

         25  said to us, by zeroing that out, you are taking

                                                            62

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  pressure off of New York City and the counties you

          3  serve, and Albany as well, and it is unfair. I'm

          4  actually parroting what has been said by many of our

          5  critics, it is unfair for the riders to fill that

          6  hole, because the riders will be filling that hole,

          7  you zero that out, the net gap of 952 grows to 1.7.

          8  Yes, 952 goes to 1.7. 1.07.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Right, 1.07.

         10                 MS. LAPP: I apologize, yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So is that the gap

         12  that New Yorkers should be considering when you ask

         13  them for increases in their fare or reductions in

         14  their service and not the 2.7 billion that's been

         15  bandied about for the last two months?

         16                 MS. LAPP: We want people to comment,

         17  and they have. We've gotten many, many e-mails, many

         18  of which I've read, and the Board members have

         19  gotten copies of, that many people say keep it at

         20  $1.75, take some via service reductions, and we

         21  agree with all of this.

         22                 Others say we'll pay $2, we don't

         23  want service reduction, we don't want you cutting

         24  the buses and the subway. The fact is that under

         25  Option C, $2, the MetroCards would go up by 33.3
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          2  percent, the cost of the passes, we all know there

          3  are various passes, and we would not ask for any

          4  governmental assistance, from either the City, the

          5  counties or the State. And, again, our critics would

          6  argue that takes New York City, New York State, and

          7  all our service counties off the book for what they

          8  should be paying at the MTA.

          9                 So, if you want to take the increased

         10  governmental assistance out in '04, yes, our gap

         11  would then be that we're asking to be filled through

         12  the fare increase, a little over a billion dollars.

         13  But if we leave the governmental assistance of 122

         14  in in '04 --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: That would be about

         16  $950 million.

         17                 MS. LAPP: Exactly.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. So, 950 to a

         19  billion and 50 million is the gap that the public

         20  should consider, and not a 2.7 billion gap?

         21                 MS. LAPP: I just want to repeat --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And that 1 billion,

         23  roughly $1 billion gap is over a two-year period?

         24                 MS. LAPP: Correct. It is the

         25  difference between the definition of a gross gap and
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          2  a net gap.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: The difference

          4  between gross and net being the additional

          5  government subsidies?

          6                 MS. LAPP: No. The gross gap is $2.8

          7  billion, 2.7 billion.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay, I understand,

          9  yes. The gross gap that you're faced with is $2.7

         10  billion, but you're already able to, without any

         11  kind of fare increases or service reductions, you're

         12  already able to reduce that gap down to just about a

         13  billion over the next two years, and so the billion

         14  dollars is the numbers that New Yorkers should be

         15  looking at and not the $2.7 billion.

         16                 MS. LAPP: Correct. Now, one of the

         17  things I would just like to note for the record, I

         18  mentioned in my remarks, all of these options, every

         19  single, all three, assume no reduction, not a penny

         20  less from the State, the City, Nassau, Suffolk or

         21  any other service counties. If our subsidies from

         22  those entities are cut, our gap will grow. And we

         23  assume no reduction, we understand that that may be

         24  a risky assumption, given what we know of the City

         25  and the State particularly, the gap they're dealing
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          2  with. And the Chairman and I will be lobbying hard,

          3  yourself, the Mayor's Office, the Governor's Office,

          4  the State Legislature, to keep what we have. But if

          5  that's taken from us, those numbers, you will be

          6  calling me to find out why are these numbers

          7  different? What are the numbers different now? They

          8  will be different, and I warn you right now they'll

          9  be different.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you for

         11  sharing and enlightening us about the numbers that

         12  you've presented here, and I promise you that we

         13  won't be asking you the same questions about the

         14  same set of numbers, because you've been frustrated,

         15  and I guess rightfully so, since these numbers have

         16  been available for the last two months.

         17                 The numbers that the MTA puts forth

         18  publicly, they're always consistent, aren't they?

         19                 You wouldn't be putting out different

         20  sets of numbers for the same periods in any way,

         21  would you?

         22                 MS. LAPP: No. I mean, obviously it

         23  depends on what you're asking. If you ask for the

         24  gross gap, it will be one number, if you ask for a

         25  net gap, whatever. I mean, you know, it depends on
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          2  what types of questions we're asked. But I can tell

          3  you from the numbers that I see consistently,

          4  they're the same numbers. People may not like the

          5  numbers, but those are the numbers. And what I hope

          6  again, through what we talked about, putting these

          7  numbers on the web, explaining it as much as we can,

          8  hopefully I'll be able to address your frustration,

          9  and particularly mine, as well.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Can I just ask you,

         11  my last set of question concerns contributed

         12  capital. What exactly is contributed capital?

         13                 MR. CAPLAN: Contributed capital is

         14  actually explained in the notes of the Transit

         15  Authority Financial Statements. Basic idea is

         16  basically the capital money that goes to Transit is

         17  provided from other sources. It's federal aid, it's

         18  the projects that are financed by TPTA bonds, it's

         19  the projects that are financed by MTA bonds, and

         20  then there are a couple of other little technical

         21  things.

         22                 Basically it's the capital, it's the

         23  value of the capital projects that are built for the

         24  benefit of the Transit Authority in that period, so

         25  it's the projects that are transferred to the
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          2  Transit Authority in say that Fiscal Year.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: You know, when you

          4  do your financials, you kind of add up all your

          5  assets. You add up all the stuff that you owe, the

          6  liabilities, and then you come to a net deficit or

          7  surplus position; is that true or am I trying to

          8  make it too complicated?

          9                 MR. CAPLAN: You have reflected in the

         10  financial statements in the statements of assets and

         11  liabilities, either cumulative deficit or cumulative

         12  service, yes.

         13                 The cumulative surplus in Transit,

         14  and basically in MTA as a whole, is simply accounted

         15  for the fact that people -- you know, that a lot of

         16  the capital projects are paid for with money from

         17  other parties, like the federal government, like the

         18  state government in some cases, like the City

         19  government, that's what that is basically showing.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. And, so, on

         21  the website that -- on the MTA website, right now

         22  you're posting, you're showing a surplus, an

         23  accumulated surplus of about four and a half billion

         24  dollars.

         25                 MR. CAPLAN: MTA-wide, yes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Is that true or not

          3  true?

          4                 MR. CAPLAN: I'll check the number.

          5                 Accumulated surplus is basically,

          6  yes, is the $4 billion.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Four and a half

          8  billion dollars, and that's actually currently

          9  posted on your website?

         10                 MR. CAPLAN: That's not cash in the

         11  bank, let's make that very clear. It's not cash in

         12  the bank. What it basically is is the difference

         13  between what we've gotten from our own sources and

         14  what has been, as the word is, contributed. That's

         15  all that is.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Now, that

         17  accumulated surplus is not simply the difference

         18  between the assets and the liabilities of the MTA,

         19  is it?

         20                 MR. CAPLAN: In one sense it's the

         21  same thing as equity in a corporation, right? In one

         22  sense, because if you have the difference between

         23  your expenses and your revenues, you end up with a

         24  profit. The profit gets shown as an addition equity,

         25  it's on the liability side of the financial
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          2  statement. This is the equivalent. Except our profit

          3  is not profit, it's basically, it's the subsidies

          4  capital and operating contributed by other parties.

          5  That's the way the economy works.

          6                 Do you think this is confusing? I

          7  think this is confusing.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: No, we're not being

          9  confused between your balance sheet that compares

         10  assets to liabilities, and your operating deficit.

         11  There is no confusion about that right now, I'm not

         12  suggesting that this four and a half billion surplus

         13  on your balance sheet is comparable to your

         14  projected billion surplus on an operating basis.

         15                 I'm simply asking you, is this four

         16  and a half billion dollars surplus the difference

         17  between your assets and liabilities on the balance

         18  sheet? Not on an operating basis, but on your

         19  balance sheet?

         20                 MR. CAPLAN: Yes, it's the equivalent

         21  of the profit on a corporate balance sheet. Yes, if

         22  you want to put it that way.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: See, Gary, do you

         24  ever use that word "profit" when you look at balance

         25  sheets? Do you ever?
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          2                 MR. CAPLAN: Not for the MTA you

          3  don't.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, then why are

          5  you telling us that?

          6                 MR. CAPLAN: I said it was the

          7  equivalent. This is a set of statements that are for

          8  a governmental organization, right?

          9                 I think part of the problem, part of

         10  the confusion in reading MTA financial statements --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Is there a confusion

         12  when we look at MTA numbers?

         13                 MR. CAPLAN: You know, you have to

         14  have accounting to understand this stuff. When

         15  people report on MTA finances, under generally

         16  accepted accounting principles, we're treated as an

         17  enterprise fund, which basically means the MTA's

         18  statements are reported as if we were a private

         19  corporation. The categories, of course, because we

         20  don't make profits, are in a sense different. The

         21  form is the same. And, so, what you get is the kind

         22  of conversation that we are now having where people

         23  are confused about the statements.

         24                 If we were purely a governmental

         25  entity, and you reported a little bit like you
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          2  reported the City, you will see it differently.

          3  There's the same kind of information, but it's in a

          4  different form, because the again generally accepted

          5  accounting principles require that our, the results

          6  of our operations be reported in this manner.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: We're not

          8  questioning your following of the accounting

          9  principles. Generally accepted or not. The assets

         10  that you list on your financial balance sheet, which

         11  is as of the end of 2001, and it's posted on your

         12  website now, you show assets of $37 billion. It's

         13  the same numbers as the book that you're flipping

         14  through.

         15                 MR. CAPLAN: Right.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thirty-seven billion

         17  dollars in assets.

         18                 MR. CAPLAN: That's right.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: In liabilities you

         20  show $21 billion.

         21                 MR. CAPLAN: Well, yes, in

         22  liabilities. Liabilities and equities is the 37

         23  billion, right? The difference is that other

         24  governments give us money.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. That's fine.
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          2                 So, $37 billion of assets, $21

          3  billion of liabilities, $12 billion of this

          4  contributed capital, is what you're saying, you're

          5  saying that's what other governments give you.

          6                 MR. CAPLAN: Yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And, so, that gives

          8  you a surplus of four and a half billion dollars.

          9                 MR. CAPLAN: Right.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Now --

         11                 MR. CAPLAN: If you look -- let's try

         12  this another way. If you look on the asset side,

         13  which is page 12 of the statements, you see

         14  something called properties and equipment, right?

         15  And this is actually the depreciated value. It's $26

         16  billion. That's our capital --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: We're not

         18  questioning your asset numbers, Gary.

         19                 MR. CAPLAN: No, but to understand the

         20  difference, the relationship between the two numbers

         21  we're talking about. How do we pay for our capital

         22  program? Some of it is paid internally. But a large

         23  part of it is paid by contributions from other

         24  governments. The federal government, the state

         25  government, the City government. What you're seeing
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          2  in those numbers are those contributions. This is

          3  not income in an accounting sense we have earned.

          4  This is income, this is money that people,

          5  governments, have given us. That's why the

          6  accounting statements turn out in this fashion. And

          7  that's all it is.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay, I mean, I'm

          9  just trying to explain to you why we're so

         10  frustrated and confused about the MTA numbers. This

         11  report that you talked about, you've answered my

         12  questions, Gary, assets, liabilities, assets 37

         13  billion, liabilities 21 billion, then you've got

         14  this 12 billion from other governments, and that

         15  leaves you with $4 billion of accumulated surplus.

         16                 MR. CAPLAN: Right.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: That's kind of like

         18  the wealth, it may not be liquid but it's the wealth

         19  of the MTA. That's according to this April 8th, 2002

         20  audit report.

         21                 MR. CAPLAN: I think "wealth" is a

         22  mischaracterization.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. Forget wealth.

         24  Your accumulated surplus.

         25                 MR. CAPLAN: It is what it says it is.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay, I'm very happy

          3  about that.

          4                 I'm just trying to use some plain

          5  language here.

          6                 MR. CAPLAN: It doesn't mean that

          7  there's money in the bank. That's the one I'm trying

          8  to get across. Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Right.

         10                 I guess in 2002, did the MTA put out

         11  reports that substantiated or supported the issuance

         12  of bonds in 2002?d.

         13                 MR. CAPLAN: Yes, a wealth of

         14  material, you can use the word there.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: In fact, part of

         16  that material is another report, another audited

         17  report, dated the same day as the book that you have

         18  under your left arm.

         19                 MR. CAPLAN: Okay.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: April 8th.

         21                 MR. CAPLAN: Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And that report

         23  shows an asset position of $37 billion, and a

         24  liability position of $21 billion. However, the

         25  accumulated deficit here that's shown is instead of
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          2  a $4 billion surplus, it's a $6 billion deficit, and

          3  that is material that was used to support the

          4  issuance of a bond.

          5                 MR. CAPLAN: Okay, what you're

          6  referring to --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Wait. My question to

          8  you, up to this point I just stated facts. I mean,

          9  I've got two reports here.

         10                 MR. CAPLAN: Right.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: We're simply asking,

         12  how could reports dated the same day, showing the

         13  same asset and same liability numbers, show

         14  different deficit or surplus numbers? One case

         15  showing a $6 billion deficit, and in the other case

         16  showing a $4 billion surplus.

         17                 MR. CAPLAN: Okay, if you go to the

         18  bottom lines, the bottom lines is the same. The

         19  reason for the difference in the treatment is really

         20  inside baseball, it has to do with the treatment of

         21  depreciation on contributed capital, right? This is

         22  like a very clear statement. And basically what has

         23  happened, if you look at the way the Transit

         24  Authority budgets and financial plan have been

         25  prepared over the years, you will see that in those
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          2  statements, and by the time you get to the bottom

          3  line, in the results that are reported by the

          4  accountants, we don't show depreciation. It's a long

          5  historical reason why that's the case.

          6                 If you look at the commuter rail

          7  side, however, you'll see that we include

          8  depreciation. What happens is that basically the

          9  accountants use the depreciation to reduce the

         10  contributed capital. I know -- I'm trying to figure

         11  out how to make this clear -- but it's really both

         12  of these are acceptable accounting treatments,

         13  because in the end it's a difference, in this case,

         14  as we've talked about it in other cases, of what you

         15  gross up and what you net.

         16                 The bottom line comes out to be the

         17  same, the same $37 billion, and it's just a simple

         18  difference in the treatment of depreciation. The

         19  depreciation numbers reflected in both statements

         20  are exactly the same. The assets, and the total of

         21  assets and equity in both statements is exactly the

         22  same. It has been, it will be, it always is, the

         23  only difference has been this practice that has been

         24  followed on the Transit side or not treating

         25  depreciation as an expense.
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          2                 We were actually considering doing

          3  that, because we've seen this kind of confusion in

          4  other areas. If you did that, people will accuse us

          5  of changing numbers, what you will be doing is

          6  increasing the size of the expenses on Transit by

          7  approximately 800 million, but it's not a cash

          8  expense, it's not going to have any affect on

          9  whether or not you got to raise the fare to 951 or a

         10  billion. That's all it is, it's a format change,

         11  it's a format difference for historical reasons.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: The Metropolitan

         13  Transportation Authority combined balance sheet, is

         14  that the highest level, the most basic information

         15  you can present?

         16                 MR. CAPLAN: It is in accounting terms

         17  the entity. It just got changed over the past

         18  several years, which is one of the reasons why you

         19  don't see the separate subsidiary statements as much

         20  as you used to.

         21                 If you read what the accountant

         22  letter says, what they basically certified to is the

         23  combined statement, the combined statement of assets

         24  and liabilities, the combined statement of

         25  operations. If you go further in the report, you
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          2  take a look at and you see something called not

          3  combined statements but "combining statements."

          4  Combining statements for purposes of information

          5  show, break it down into the separate units, but the

          6  basic units now, not necessarily five years ago, the

          7  basic accounting unit is the MTA as a whole.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: We're looking at two

          9  statements, simple statements of the assets and

         10  liabilities of the MTA. These are audited reports,

         11  audited by the same firm?

         12                 MR. CAPLAN: No.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay, not audited by

         14  the same firm, but issued on the same date.

         15                 MR. CAPLAN: Right.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: April 8, 2002.

         17                 MR. CAPLAN: Right.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: One shows a deficit

         19  position of $6 billion for the MTA? No?

         20                 MR. CAPLAN: No. They both end up with

         21  the same bottom line. The assets and the liability

         22  side of both are exactly the same. All the numbers

         23  in there are the same. There is a difference in

         24  accounting treatment, both treatments being

         25  permitted under gap that has to do with, (a) the
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          2  fact that for the historical reasons we didn't show

          3  depreciation on the Transit side, and (b) because it

          4  is different firms.

          5                 It's going to be interesting this

          6  year.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Look, the assets on

          8  both statements are $37 billion that you already

          9  said that they are on a depreciated basis. Why is

         10  then -- why are you treating the depreciation aspect

         11  down --

         12                 MR. CAPLAN: Okay, you know why? This

         13  actually started when the federal government was

         14  giving operating assistance. Something they no

         15  longer give us, right? For purposes of the federal

         16  government, they, even though the accountants will

         17  tell you by generally accepted accounting

         18  principles, you've got to show it. Federal

         19  government said when we're going to calculate how we

         20  give out operating deficits, how we fund operating

         21  deficits, we're not going to count this. I'm not

         22  challenging the decision from a public policy

         23  viewpoint, what they said is we're not going to

         24  count that, and in fact, if you go to the federal

         25  Transit database now and you look at all of the
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          2  numbers, because we've had this, you'll see the

          3  whole explanation of why they haven't done that.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: You know --

          5                 MR. CAPLAN: But that's what the

          6  accounting statements mirrored, and since there was

          7  a way to do that, that was consistent with generally

          8  accepted accounting principles, that's what the

          9  statements show.

         10                 MS. LAPP: I think we're disagreeing

         11  about one set of statements versus another, and

         12  whether depreciation is taken or not, and obviously

         13  Gary went through kind of the history of why it's

         14  not in Transit.

         15                 I think what I would like to do is to

         16  have Gary sit down with you and go through these

         17  statements and walk you through, and as I think I've

         18  heard him say, that he is considering, and I think

         19  we could talk about this, maybe putting depreciation

         20  back into Transit, since we no longer get any, we

         21  don't get a dime from the federal government on the

         22  operating side, so that's why we did it before, it

         23  doesn't make any sense, from what I understand

         24  today.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Madam Director,
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          2  thank you very much for that offer. With all due

          3  respect, this Committee unanimously passed a

          4  resolution asking for that very same help on October

          5  11th, on October 25th, the City Council of New York

          6  unanimously passed a resolution asking for the exact

          7  same help, and now we are being told that these

          8  numbers are very clear and available to the public,

          9  and that they are transparent and that the MTA

         10  conducts its operations in a transparent mode, and,

         11  yet, even with a very high level big picture look at

         12  the MTA finances, we have reports dated the same

         13  day, and in fact, are certified by the same

         14  accounting firm, Gary.

         15                 MR. CAPLAN: No. No.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, maybe you can

         17  come up and take a look at these.

         18                 MR. CAPLAN: The Transit statement.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay, maybe you can

         20  let me finish and I'll ask you to speak.

         21                 MR. CAPLAN: Okay.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: The point we're

         23  trying to make is that it isn't easy for anybody to

         24  look at these numbers, and I would have to question

         25  the transparency of the agency when, in fact, on the
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          2  same day, on a big picture look at the MTA, you have

          3  a $10 billion swing in the deficit surplus position.

          4  It is a swing. You're saying the bottom line is the

          5  net equity. Sure that's the same. But the

          6  accumulated deficit in one report is $6 billion, the

          7  accumulated surplus in the other report, dated on

          8  the same day, signed off by the same accounting

          9  firm, is a $4 billion surplus, and the only

         10  balancing item, that's the only thing I can call

         11  that results in the net, in the same equity net

         12  position, is this contributed capital that you have

         13  said is kind of like a result of the commitments

         14  that other governments have made to the MTA's

         15  financial condition, and a difference in the way the

         16  assets are either depreciated or not depreciated.

         17                 And, so, how are we supposed to know

         18  what kind of numbers we're looking at? And we've

         19  already asked for this help back in October.

         20                 MR. CAPLAN: Okay, part of this, I

         21  mean is really explained in the footnotes to both

         22  the Transit statements and the MTA combined

         23  statements. I'm not going to say this is easy

         24  language, it was written by the accountants. It's a

         25  difficult kind of concept. But all I can tell you,
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          2  in plain English as I can muster, the numbers are

          3  the same. The treatment is a little different, all

          4  the numbers are the same.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Why would you treat

          6  it differently on the same day?

          7                 MR. CAPLAN: Because the Transit

          8  Authority statements are prepared by one accounting

          9  firm, they did it in light of the history that I

         10  just went through, the combined MTA statements are

         11  prepared by another accounting firm, they're

         12  prepared as they are shown.

         13                 This year, interestingly enough,

         14  because we do rotate our auditors, the firm that did

         15  the MTA statements will for the year 2002, be doing

         16  the TA statements, and we will have a third

         17  accounting firm actually doing the MTA statements.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: You know, both

         19  reports are addressed to members of the Board of the

         20  Metropolitan Transportation Authority. So, I'm also

         21  not sure what you're talking about when you say one

         22  set of books is prepared for the MTA, and the other

         23  set of books is prepared for the New York City

         24  Transit.

         25                 MS. LAPP: I'd just like to comment on
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          2  that. Each of our operating agencies have their own

          3  auditing firms, it's required by law, and each of

          4  them have a different -- whether it be Price

          5  Waterhouse, KPMG, Earnst and Young, et cetera, and

          6  after several years we rotate them. We put out an

          7  RFP and rotate them so that we do have fresh eyes

          8  looking at all the numbers. And the MTA Wide has its

          9  own accounting firm.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I'm sure that that's

         11  the right way to do it, to rotate accounting firms,

         12  nonetheless, and, you know, I'll let it go for now

         13  and ask my colleagues to ask their questions, but I

         14  think it is not -- it certainly is not frivolous as

         15  the MTA would sometimes like to make us sound or

         16  look. It is not frivolous for the City Council or

         17  for the public in New York City to question the

         18  MTA's numbers, and to question whether the MTA is

         19  truly accountable to the public. And this is just

         20  simply one example.

         21                 And, Gary, I would be happy to sit

         22  down with you and the rest of your staff to go over

         23  these numbers, because this is just one example of

         24  some, what we would consider glaring inconsistencies

         25  in the financial reports of the Metropolitan
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          2  Transportation Authority.

          3                 Let me ask my colleagues to ask their

          4  questions. We have Council Member Eric Dilan.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Thank you, Mr.

          6  Chairman.

          7                 I just wanted to skid right into an

          8  issue that's of great concern to the North Brooklyn

          9  community that I represent, and that happens to be

         10  the closures of the stations, whether it be full

         11  time or part time.

         12                 I was just wondering, you know, what

         13  was the rationale that you use in selecting a

         14  station for closure, and just, if you can kind of

         15  give a breakdown by borough, you know, as to how

         16  many closures say Brooklyn has versus Manhattan and

         17  Queens or Bronx?

         18                 MS. LAPP: Okay, as I mentioned in my

         19  remarks, the Transit Authority developed the matrix

         20  of the --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: And I meant

         22  token booths. I'm sorry.

         23                 MS. LAPP: Okay.

         24                 Of the 177 booths. Unfortunately I

         25  have it broken down, and I believe, and I apologize
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          2  if you didn't get your letter, because I do believe

          3  I sent you one, as I sent everyone, which outlined

          4  all the ones that we are closing and where they are,

          5  and some of which I assume are also in your

          6  district.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: I think I've

          8  received it. I believe there's about eight to nine

          9  --

         10                 MS. LAPP: In your district.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: In the North

         12  Brooklyn community.

         13                 MS. LAPP: Right, and I believe that

         14  number is correct.

         15                 And the standards they used were to

         16  look at only secondary booths, not the primary,

         17  every one that would be closed would still have a

         18  full-time token booth presence in the station,

         19  that's number one. And number two, what they used

         20  was looking at low entrance and exit volumes of that

         21  booth.

         22                 So, those were the standards that

         23  Larry Reuter, President of the Transit Authority,

         24  and others, use in analyzing those.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Was ridership
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          2  at all considered? I guess volume of the actual

          3  station, was that a consideration?

          4                 MS. LAPP: Yes. According to Mr.

          5  Reuter, that was entered into the equation.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Okay, and then

          7  how about breakdown by borough; is that something

          8  that you have readily available?

          9                 MS. LAPP: He has it right here and

         10  I'll have -- big poster, but I can have that given

         11  to you, if you would like. I don't have it at my

         12  fingertips.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Okay, I would

         14  appreciate that.

         15                 MS. LAPP: Sure.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: And then

         17  lastly, I think just upon my review, and I -- you

         18  know, I do hate to bring it this way, but just upon

         19  review it just appeared that, you know, this

         20  community of color, as far as the closures were

         21  concerned were little more adversely affected. It

         22  could be, you know, just upon review, and, you know,

         23  I think it's just a grave safety concern, you know,

         24  in light of all the things that are going on in the

         25  City, and I definitely, Mr. Chairman, would have to
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          2  express my displeasure with that, and I know you've

          3  been very good with this Committee in fighting for

          4  the citizens of the City of New York. But, you know,

          5  I'm pretty disturbed by it. You know, God forbid

          6  something happens, you know, the majority of people

          7  in my area happen to be women, and, you know, my

          8  mother, my sister ride the trains and I'm here more

          9  as a concerned citizen today than an elected

         10  official.

         11                 You know, it's something that I would

         12  hate to read in the paper that something happened to

         13  ridership because there was no staff at the token

         14  booth, and, you know, I'm just greatly concerned and

         15  I just wanted to go on the record, Mr. Chairman,

         16  with my displeasure.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 MS. LAPP: Can I just follow up on

         19  that, Mr. Council member? And I really apologize if,

         20  as you looked at this list, if you believe that

         21  there was perhaps any imminent inkling of any sense

         22  that we were focusing on any particular

         23  neighborhoods. That was not the case. We service

         24  people from all walks of life, all backgrounds, in

         25  the New York City Transit system. So, I just want to
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          2  make it clear that Mr. Reuter, nor his staff, had

          3  any such intention in mind.

          4                 With regard to the safety measures, I

          5  will tell you that I've met with Police Commissioner

          6  Kelly, Chief Scagnelli, the Chief of the

          7  Transportation Bureau, we've gone through this list,

          8  Chief Scagnelli has in fact gone through it, has

          9  indicated that he understands what we're attempting

         10  to do, and in the really in the last analysis, the

         11  best way to provide security in the system is

         12  through having uniformed police officers in the

         13  system, and I can attest to the fact of having been

         14  part of the merger of the Transit Police into the

         15  NYPD, crime has plummeted in our station.

         16                 That is not to say that one crime is

         17  not one crime too many. And I can really -- the

         18  Chief, Chief Scagnelli and his folks have done a

         19  great job in providing security, and they understand

         20  that that's an important aspect.

         21                 So, I don't want to minimize the

         22  impact, and I appreciate your concerns regarding the

         23  closures of the booths. It is not something that we

         24  take lightly. That is why it is the subject of

         25  hearings over the next 30 days through the month of

                                                            90

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  February and again I will take your comments back,

          3  relay them to the Chairman and to the Board.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: May I ask, in

          5  your budget reduction plan, were there any closures

          6  within the MetroNorth or the Long Island Railroad?

          7                 MS. LAPP: There are window closings

          8  projected for Long Island Railroad, the MetroNorth.

          9  Again, after we started the MetroCard vending

         10  machines for New York City Transit, we then

         11  implemented a similar initiative for the two

         12  railroads, and they are now reinstalling machines in

         13  those places as well, in those stations, and yes,

         14  there are window closings incorporated in the

         15  budget, as well.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Okay.

         17                 And then lastly, Mr. Chairman, you've

         18  mentioned that you're going to have a series of

         19  public hearings, which I think is necessary, and

         20  I've tried to look to see if any translation

         21  services will be available at these hearings?

         22                 MS. LAPP: I believe they are

         23  available, if they're not, we'll make them

         24  available.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Okay, thank
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          2  you, Mr. Chairman.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council

          4  member.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: I'm sorry, the

          6  hearing is scheduled for those. If you don't have

          7  it, I think I sent it to all of you, it's on our

          8  website, www.mta.info, okay?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Madam

         10  Director.

         11                 Thank you, Council Member Dilan, and

         12  we have a question from Council Member Koppell.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you.

         14                 First of all, because of your being

         15  so upset about some of the press, I'm going to be a

         16  little bit, maybe a little bit tough on this.

         17                 When was this noted printed, please?

         18  This notice of the projected deficit.

         19                 MS. LAPP: It was printed last

         20  Tuesday.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Last Tuesday.

         22  And it says that you have a projected deficit of

         23  $2.8 billion.

         24                 MS. LAPP: Correct.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Could you put
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          2  back the slide that shows the deficit?

          3                 MS. LAPP: Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: The next one,

          5  please.

          6                 MS. LAPP: You want the next one?

          7  Okay.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Okay, the

          9  $630 million savings from refinancing, when was that

         10  refinancing completed?

         11                 MS. LAPP: It's still going on.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: When was --

         13  but it's scheduled; is that correct?

         14                 MS. LAPP: Right. It's going on the

         15  beginning of last -- mid this year it's going on

         16  through.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And it

         18  started mid last year you mean? Mid-2002?

         19                 MS. LAPP: Mid-2002.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Right.

         21                 And it's going on and the savings are

         22  guaranteed. It's not questionable, is it?

         23                 MS. LAPP: No.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So, last

         25  Tuesday when you printed this, and you said you had
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          2  a $2.8 billion deficit for 2003 and 2004, that

          3  really wasn't accurate because the 630 you knew

          4  about already, isn't that correct?

          5                 MS. LAPP: It is what we project for

          6  '03 and '04.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Not what you

          8  project, you knew about it. It was definite. You

          9  just told me it was definite. It wasn't projected.

         10  It was definite.

         11                 MS. LAPP: Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Just like

         13  other things, you based the revenues figures on were

         14  more or less definite. So, you didn't have a

         15  projected deficit last Tuesday of 2.8 billion, you

         16  had a projected deficit looking only at this side of

         17  2.2 billion; is that correct?

         18                 MS. LAPP: I will not deny that we

         19  expect to have $630 million in the bank over the

         20  next two years.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Okay, so

         22  telling the public that you have a projected deficit

         23  of 2.8 billion when you had 600 million that was on

         24  the table, you had it, you knew you had it, just

         25  like when you come up with your overall deficit
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          2  figures, you know you're going to have fare

          3  revenues, and you build that in. This is even more

          4  definite than the fare revenue, because you don't

          5  know that the people are going to get on the train,

          6  but you do know that you're going to save $630

          7  million, right?

          8                 MR. CAPLAN: While the number is

          9  assured, the application of the savings to operating

         10  budgets is not necessarily a given.

         11                 We have asked everybody to comment on

         12  the whole magilla (sic).

         13                 Some people have said that we should

         14  not use the $630 million to in effect subsidize the

         15  operating side.

         16                 What they have said is since it is,

         17  you know, basically a two-shot savings, you should

         18  take this money and you should put it and use it for

         19  capital. Because we are saying we want everybody to

         20  comment on the whole plan. We're giving people an

         21  opportunity to comment on a whole plan, the use of

         22  that money in that fashion is one of the things that

         23  is on the table.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And as of

         25  last Tuesday, going to -- I'm not going to argue
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          2  with you any further.

          3                 MS. LAPP: Okay.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: As of last

          5  Tuesday, the $972 million in operating savings had

          6  been projected, correct?

          7                 MS. LAPP: Operating peg programs you

          8  mean?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Yes.

         10                 MS. LAPP: 972. Those are reductions,

         11  which include, by the way, the token booths

         12  closings.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Right. But

         14  they were adopted by the Board?

         15                 MS. LAPP: No, they have not finally

         16  been adopted.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: How much of

         18  them have been adopted?

         19                 MS. LAPP: I'd have to figure it, do

         20  the math.

         21                 Right now we have an interim plan

         22  that does not include that 972. The Board wants to

         23  hear what people think about the token booths and

         24  the elimination of the token, et cetera.

         25                 I understand what you're saying, and
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          2  I appreciate --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: That is the

          4  exact point made by the Independent Budget Office.

          5  It's the same point. The point is that your plans

          6  already include reducing down to 952 billion, as the

          7  Chairman pointed out, and to say to people we have a

          8  $2.8 billion deficit in a piece of paper here, when

          9  in fact at the very least, by the way, you have 2.2

         10  billion. But I would argue you have a $1 billion, or

         11  more or less $1 billion deficit, that you have to

         12  close over two years, and that would be an honest

         13  statement, and that's what the Independent Budget

         14  Office is saying, and that's all they're saying, and

         15  there's nothing wrong with their saying it, with all

         16  due respect.

         17                 MS. LAPP: And I respect what you just

         18  said. I just point out that the point of that

         19  article, or that poster, is to show the net -- I

         20  mean the gross gap.

         21                 As Gary said, we have been criticized

         22  about using this debt restructuring in our operating

         23  site, and I know you appreciate that.

         24                 We've been criticized about the token

         25  booths. We don't -- the 77 we hope to get, I think
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          2  we will, I think the corporate we will. We just went

          3  through the 121, it may be a wrong assumption. Maybe

          4  it's too optimistic, but then it would increase the

          5  deficit to a billion. So, I appreciate what you're

          6  saying. I understand that that 2.8 is a big number

          7  and it is a gross number, and what you would like is

          8  for a better explanation for a riding public, that

          9  if we do all of these things, it's a little less

         10  than that.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: That's right.

         12                 MS. LAPP: And I certainly --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And I don't

         14  have any quarrel if you take the 25 million out and

         15  maybe some other numbers out, but obviously, built

         16  into all these numbers are all kinds of assumptions

         17  about what you're going to spend, how many trains

         18  you're going to run, how many buses you're going to

         19  run, how many people you're going to hire, how much

         20  advertising you're going to do, I mean all those

         21  assumptions are in there.

         22                 So, in my opinion, what has to be

         23  made up by the fare is the net of that.

         24                 MS. LAPP: Right.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Now, there
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          2  may be a few things in the 972 that, you know, we

          3  can argue about. But basically what we have to argue

          4  about is a billion dollars and how to meet that gap.

          5                 MS. LAPP: Somewhere between 9, yes --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And I think,

          7  therefore, the newspaper stories, frankly, are not

          8  particularly unfair, in my opinion. But let's move

          9  on.

         10                 MS. LAPP: Right.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Let me just

         12  say one thing about what Mr. Dilan said.

         13                 Especially if you're asking for a

         14  fare increase, which I think is unfortunately going

         15  to ultimately be the case sooner or later, hopefully

         16  later, but it is unacceptable, unacceptable to close

         17  token booths, and we're talking about $25 million

         18  out of this number that is too small a number to put

         19  everybody's safety at stake, and to affect

         20  communities the way this does, and I can tell you

         21  this, that if the MTA persists in closing token

         22  booths, I personally will try and organize protests,

         23  and I will call for the whole chabang of you to be

         24  removed from office. It's unacceptable, period, end

         25  of statement.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council

          3  Member Koppell.

          4                 One of the points that the Council

          5  member was making is that the $2.8 billion that you

          6  published just last week on these posters is

          7  misleading.

          8                 MS. LAPP: Can I interrupt one second?

          9  Oh, sorry.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Sure, if you just

         11  give me another two seconds.

         12                 MS. LAPP: Go ahead. I apologize.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Because just before

         14  Gary Caplan said that you've been criticized for the

         15  $630 million of interest, that's basically savings

         16  and interest. You refinance that lower rate. I don't

         17  know if anybody is going to criticize that kind of a

         18  move. Who would criticize that?

         19                 And is that $630 million dependent

         20  upon any kind of public feedback? Would you possible

         21  change it from the public forums that you're having?

         22                 MR. CAPLAN: As we said, the savings

         23  is not a continuing savings, it's a savings that

         24  occurs because of the structure of the restructuring

         25  in these two years. So, that's why some people have
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          2  said, it is a kind of one-shot in that context, and

          3  that's why some people have said you shouldn't spend

          4  the money this way, you should spend it on capital.

          5  And people have different views on that.

          6                 MS. LAPP: It was generated out of our

          7  capital plan, restructuring and there are many

          8  people who would say it should go back into your

          9  capital plan.

         10                 I mean, I don't necessarily -- that's

         11  why the Board said we're going to put it on the

         12  options and use it as the operating.

         13                 Again, I just want to go back to the

         14  fact, I appreciate what everyone is saying about,

         15  you know, using the 2.8 gap. The fact is that is the

         16  gross gap. Yes, the gross gap. It is the gap that is

         17  similarly used by the City of New York, when it says

         18  the $6 billion problem, or the State with a $10

         19  billion problem, that is a gross number, after which

         20  you reduce it down when you start cutting things

         21  like firehouses or police officers or anything else,

         22  you start eating away at that.

         23                 So, I think that I appreciate what

         24  you're saying, I don't necessarily totally agree

         25  with it. I think that, again, we need to make a
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          2  better effort publicly, and that's what I am trying

          3  to start today, is to explain the 2.8. But, again,

          4  the 952, contrary, and I will say contrary to what

          5  has been in the media today, was reported on

          6  November 22nd, 2002.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Madam Director, I

          8  appreciate those comments. At the same time, I would

          9  also state that your analogy to City and State

         10  finances is, I would submit, not absolutely

         11  accurate, because in fact when we start out with

         12  saying that there is a $6 billion deficit or a $7

         13  billion deficit, that is at the same point as the

         14  roughly $1 billion deficit that's shown, because

         15  below that you have a combination of revenue

         16  increases and that line called additional service

         17  cuts. That is the combination of those two items,

         18  additional revenue, meaning fare increases and

         19  service cuts. It says, though, on your analysis

         20  below that $1 billion number, service cuts.

         21                 That's how you would propose to close

         22  that gap, and that is in fact the way the City does

         23  it. Not up there where you have somehow $25 million

         24  of cost savings due to token book closures up there,

         25  instead of down below, where really it belongs

                                                            102

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  because it's a service cut.

          3                 So, I would submit that that analogy

          4  is actually not correct.

          5                 MS. LAPP: I don't necessarily

          6  disagree, but we'll agree to disagree, Council

          7  member.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

          9                 Council Member Sears.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you, Mr.

         11  Chairman.

         12                 I have two questions. They're short.

         13  But first I just want to talk about the token booths

         14  for a second, because you stated earlier that you

         15  had 2,000 e-mails, and I think with some of the

         16  stuff, the math that I've done about the token

         17  booths, you're going to remove 177, to me that

         18  leaves 548. I don't know if you said 49 were going

         19  to be full time or 49 were going to be part time?

         20                 MS. LAPP: No, the 177 is broken down,

         21  49 are full-time, currently full-time booths, and

         22  the balance are currently part-time booths.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: So, of the 548

         24  that are remaining, how many of those are going to

         25  be part-time and full-time.
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          2                 MS. LAPP: I don't know. I could get

          3  you that answer.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Do, because I

          5  think with the numbers that are going to be saved, I

          6  have to tell you that I don't believe anyone would

          7  support the closing of the token booths, and

          8  certainly I would anticipate you would have an

          9  abundance of e-mails, and certainly from my

         10  constituents in my office, that would oppose the

         11  closing of these booths, because they're really in

         12  reality not saving you very much. It may be good for

         13  the MTA, but it's not good for the public. I ride

         14  the subways, and I ride them at different hours, and

         15  I could tell you, I don't want to go anywhere where

         16  there's no token booths. I don't feel safe in it and

         17  if I don't, I can't expect the people of the City of

         18  New York to feel safe if others don't. It's unfair

         19  and I'm asking you not to do that, because you will

         20  have a big fight.

         21                 MS. LAPP: Councilwoman, I'll get you

         22  the information you requested.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: And I think

         24  that you and the Board have to recalculate of

         25  exactly where you make up the difference of what
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          2  you're going to save with the closing of the token

          3  booths.

          4                 MS. LAPP: Yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I'd like to

          6  shift gears for a moment and just ask you, in your

          7  reorganization, you're going to separate the buses

          8  from the subways.

          9                 MS. LAPP: That's the proposal, yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: How do you

         11  propose to coordinate the running of them in your

         12  reorganization of your management, which actually

         13  leads to my second question, which probably could be

         14  answered all in one.

         15                 How are you going to prioritize your

         16  projects? For instance, the East Side access I think

         17  is the largest the MTA has undertaken. It's a

         18  mammoth, mammoth project, and you do have

         19  consultants, you do have managers to run that

         20  project. Second Avenue is going to be extensive, and

         21  certainly the expansion of the number 7. You must

         22  have, I have to believe that within the profile of

         23  the MTA that you must have a redundancy of staff

         24  from the consultants who were doing that work on

         25  these major projects, and perhaps the equivalent in

                                                            105

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  the MTA.

          3                 So, in your restructuring, you can

          4  save those token booths from closing if you looked

          5  at the redundancy. That's what I suggest.

          6                 MS. LAPP: Well, on the first issue

          7  you talked about the buses.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Right.

          9                 MS. LAPP: One of the things we would

         10  hope to do through putting surface transportation in

         11  one place, whether it services Nassau County going

         12  into Queens, or Queens going into Brooklyn, what we

         13  hope to do is make sure we're not running

         14  duplicative routes. We will also be working the head

         15  of that company, we'll be working closely with the

         16  head of the Subways Department to make sure, as we

         17  do today, that buses stop at subway stations so

         18  people can have a choice, continue on the bus or on

         19  the subways. So there will be very close

         20  coordination.

         21                 As I indicated, we do run Long Island

         22  Bus, which services Nassau County, it goes into

         23  Queens. So there are efficiencies there, and I agree

         24  with you, that's where we hope to get some of the

         25  efficiencies and the capital side, one of the things
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          2  that we -- it's rather obvious, East Side Access is

          3  roughly a $5 billion project, it is a very, very big

          4  project. It incorporates Long Island, MetroNorth,

          5  because it will bring Long Island Railroad into

          6  Grand Central, which is Metro North, and it also

          7  involves Transit.

          8                 So, one of the things that the

          9  Chairman saw very clearly was you have three

         10  different presidents with really three different

         11  agendas, and rightfully so, so you really need

         12  someone that's going to cut through that and

         13  someone, to be perfectly honest, I don't have that

         14  kind of expertise. We need someone, a capital --

         15  someone with a lot of construction expertise,

         16  transportation expertise, being able to focus on

         17  that exclusively.

         18                 Right now it's kind of spread across

         19  the agencies, and as we do that, and we have

         20  advertised for that position, we have gotten very,

         21  very high quality resumes, I will begin those

         22  interviews in the next few weeks, or the next two

         23  weeks, and hopefully begin that process.

         24                 And I understand that through that

         25  process we hope to make some savings, and if that
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          2  could offset some of the token booth clerks, we will

          3  try to do that.

          4                 I just cannot say here today that I

          5  can get that money in time, balance our budget, this

          6  year, since it's almost February anyway.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I understand

          8  that. But I do think with the priorities that you

          9  have for the number 7 extension, the Second Avenue

         10  is very key in Manhattan, so I don't even see that

         11  being delayed any.

         12                 You have some terminals that are

         13  being done. The 174th Street is a very big project.

         14  And certainly that is not going to be suspended, and

         15  with the Second Avenue, my point is that when you

         16  look at the personnel that does all of the same

         17  jobs, I believe that you can find some very cost

         18  savings that would save the token booths and at the

         19  same time give you some cost constraints, but

         20  considering the economy today, to look at what

         21  you're going to have if you have anything from the

         22  State and the Federal Government, when every state

         23  is having huge deficits, New York State has its

         24  share. I think you have to be more creative and more

         25  bold, and rather than anticipating what you're going
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          2  to get from other governments. Because that's a

          3  fact. That's a reality.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 MS. LAPP: Thank you.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you, mr.

          7  Chairman.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council

          9  Member Sears. A question from Council Member

         10  Seabrook.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Thank you,

         12  Mr. Chairman.

         13                 And Ms. Lapp, just two quick

         14  questions. One is that I certainly appreciate you

         15  coming and speaking in plain English because the

         16  hearings that I've attended in previous, I was

         17  confused whether it was ebotics or just a mixture of

         18  googly-gock, because I never got what it was in the

         19  request that we had had. So, it was confusing, and

         20  so we depended on the straphangers group and the

         21  Transit Workers Union to provide us with some plain

         22  English at the hearings, because no one else wanted

         23  to tell us any factual information. It's well, we

         24  don't know, we'll see, we don't know, we don't know.

         25  And that's what we got and we never got any other
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          2  requests.

          3                 And we're going to have these

          4  hearings, and a lot of people believe that these

          5  hearings would just be people blowing off steam and

          6  after that the decision will be made.

          7                 However, there have been a number of

          8  proposals that have been put forward - the

          9  Straphangers Group, the Transit Workers Union have

         10  put together their proposals, or how they felt they

         11  could benefit this City, save so there wouldn't be

         12  an increase. The Assemblyman has put an idea

         13  together that would benefit to save.

         14                 If we're serious about solving this

         15  problem, the individuals in groups who have brought

         16  proposals to say please listen to us because we ride

         17  the subways and buses, we work in the fields, we

         18  drive the buses, we drive the trains, we service all

         19  of this, and the State Legislature is saying, and we

         20  fund you.

         21                 Now, they have brought these

         22  proposals, I haven't heard one comment or response

         23  or how to incorporate them, and then we will hear,

         24  we will have the people at the hearings in saying

         25  this, and then things will go on.
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          2                 I'd like to hear the comments from

          3  you at how do you incorporate those ideas from those

          4  individuals who have some involvement to make this

          5  system work, and to provide efficient service at a

          6  cost that says they're saving. Is it real or is it

          7  not?

          8                 MS. LAPP: Well, let me just take

          9  those, in order, if you don't mind.

         10                 With regard to the Straphangers

         11  Campaign, we have met with Gene Russianoff on

         12  several occasions, fairly recently on some of our

         13  budget exercise. He also has some very ideas in the

         14  recent proposal about maybe introducing different

         15  fare instruments, such as maybe a non-consecutive

         16  five-day pass, or some other things that are

         17  intended to help people who might otherwise have a

         18  hard time paying for the monthly pass of $63 or

         19  whatever the price will ultimately be.

         20                 So, we have incorporated those

         21  changes, and I do have to say that I met with

         22  Transit only a couple of weeks ago to follow up on

         23  some of those ideas, and to try and get, incorporate

         24  some of those things.

         25                 On Bus Rapid Transit, let me just
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          2  back up a few moments. When I first came here, one

          3  of the first things that the Mayor's Office actually

          4  reached out to me about was that very, very idea,

          5  Bus Rapid Transit. I believe Mayor Bloomberg, when

          6  he was running for Mayor, endorsed the concept. So,

          7  Iris Weinshall, Commissioner of DOT, and I sat down

          8  with Larry Reuter and the head of buses, Butch Sag,

          9  and we put a team together, teams of NYPD, because

         10  they obviously enforce traffic, and the bus stop

         11  regulations, et cetera, DOT and our bus people, and

         12  they have for the last three to four months been

         13  going out, my understanding virtually every week,

         14  looking at every route that we run in New York City

         15  to figure out whether or not a concept such as a Bus

         16  Rapid Transit, which really I'll get to the

         17  definition of that, would work in some parts of New

         18  York City, or whether some things like extending bus

         19  stops, eliminating some parking, which is a very

         20  difficult thing to do, along some of these major

         21  highways to allow buses to get into the curb area,

         22  dispatch customers and let other customers get on,

         23  in order to have a free flow of traffic.

         24                 We've worked with the NYPD along the

         25  major thoroughfares, particularly Manhattan, parts
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          2  of Queens and Brooklyn. We have people going up and

          3  down. We've actually used MTA police in Manhattan to

          4  allow NYPD officers to go to some of the outer

          5  boroughs to enforce the bus lane restrictions.

          6                 Bus Rapid Transit, the essence of Bus

          7  Rapid Transit that exists in many places, I don't

          8  know, some places in the United States, but in other

          9  places, Europe particularly, they are dedicated, and

         10  I mean dedicated thoroughfares, only a bus, nothing

         11  else ever can go into those areas. And there have

         12  been proposals that I have looked at, to do that,

         13  say on Second Avenue in Manhattan.

         14                 Now, in order to do that, you would

         15  have to eliminate parking on either side of Second

         16  Avenue.

         17                 You would have to widen Second

         18  Avenue, take sidewalks, and you would then put

         19  dedicated roadways where the only A bus can get in

         20  or out. The concept has some attraction to it, but

         21  when you start kind of knocking away at the pieces,

         22  and things like businesses that would be affected,

         23  because people can no longer park on Second Avenue

         24  and run in and get a soda or something like that, it

         25  starts to kind of, doesn't work in some parts.
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          2  That's not to say we might not consider something in

          3  Staten Island, or parts of Queens where maybe those

          4  issues aren't as difficult, but we are working, and

          5  Iris Weinshall and her team have been very good.

          6                 We've been moving some bus stops,

          7  we've been doing various things, primarily designed

          8  to move the buses through New York City. Because I

          9  think you've all taken buses where you actually, you

         10  know, it takes a very long time to get up and down

         11  Second Avenue or across town.

         12                 So, we have incorporated, actually

         13  before the TWU report came out, I had been meeting

         14  with Iris Weinshall for many, many months, out of

         15  that, their report, we hope to look at those things

         16  and figure out ways to save money.

         17                 But Bus Rapid -- my desire on Bus

         18  Rapid Transit primarily was designed to improve the

         19  buses flowing back and forth. Because one of the

         20  highest complaints we get understandably is it's

         21  very hard to gauge when we're going to get from

         22  point A to point B on the buses. And it's not

         23  because of our bus drivers, they are very dedicated

         24  people. It is because traffic, because people

         25  parking in bus stops, people driving in bus lanes,
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          2  not adhering to traffic rules, so I'm with you on

          3  the Bus Rapid Transit Initiative, and I would be

          4  happy to sit down with you and go through it with

          5  Iris Weinshall particularly.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: And just the

          7  comment as it relates to the Assemblyman's proposal

          8  as it relates to those who are coming into the City

          9  since there's no light with the commuter tax, so

         10  there's a means of dealing with those residents who

         11  are here and use it and those people who actually --

         12                 MS. LAPP: Right.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: What's your

         14  comment on that?

         15                 MS. LAPP: That proposal, which I

         16  believe we received a copy of, has been forwarded to

         17  the Board. That would be a Board action that they

         18  would have to reflect upon. It would be something

         19  that is a new undertaking, it would be basically

         20  price differentials for residents, non-residents,

         21  with the exception of some of our tolls for Staten

         22  Islanders and parts of Queens, we don't usually have

         23  that kind of process, so it's something that the MTA

         24  Board has received and is looking at. But that would

         25  be more of a policy thing as opposed to something
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          2  that either I or Gary would be able to comment on.

          3  But I will certainly reiterate your desire to hear

          4  something from the Board on that.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Right.

          6                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council

          8  Member Seabrook.

          9                 We have a question from Council

         10  Member Addabbo.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,

         12  Mr. Chair.

         13                 To the entire panel, I appreciate

         14  your time and testimony today. Thanks for being

         15  here.

         16                 Being a representative from Queens,

         17  to think about toll booth closures and possible fare

         18  increases to possibly 33 percent, to me it's

         19  unthinkable for my district. So, in thinking about

         20  other alternatives and talking about other options

         21  for raising revenue for the most part, has the MTA

         22  ever thought about properties that they own, selling

         23  off some of those properties or assets that you may

         24  have, instead of becoming a landlord, actually

         25  selling off these properties; has that been an
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          2  option considered?

          3                 MS. LAPP: Yes, it's actually been

          4  used in the past.

          5                 I think the old Columbus Circle

          6  building -- was it Columbus?

          7                 MR. CAPLAN: Yes.

          8                 MS. LAPP: It was owned by Triborough

          9  Bridge. We sold that, the City got, I want to say

         10  it's about 30 million, I don't remember how much

         11  they got out of that sale, but that was done in 1996

         12  maybe.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: So those

         14  alternatives have been considered?

         15                 MS. LAPP: Yes. We've actually sold

         16  off a lot of our assets. And if we have more and

         17  people can find, you know, as we go through, if you

         18  have any ideas on that, give me a buzz, please.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Okay.

         20                 And just a quick question, the

         21  restructuring of the MTA as far as another

         22  alternative; what would that mean possibly to the

         23  current employees? The current engineers, architects

         24  and so forth, what would that mean to them?

         25                 MS. LAPP: Virtually no change from
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          2  their status. They may, if they're working in

          3  Transit, on the subway side, they will work in the

          4  subway bus, as a subway company, if they're working

          5  on buses, they'll be in the bus department.

          6                 The engineers on the railroads will

          7  virtually remain intact. Particularly on the rail

          8  company, we're talking about merging the

          9  administrative structures and save some money there.

         10                 Some of these initiatives that I'm

         11  talking about, they do require state legislative

         12  approval. We are finalizing the bill that would

         13  achieve that.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Okay. And

         15  lastly, would the restructuring cause a change in

         16  in-house or contracting out of services?

         17                 MS. LAPP: That issue was raised by

         18  the Councilman in the beginning, and I actually

         19  apologize for not addressing that.

         20                 Those are issues that are made on the

         21  construction side, based on the professionals that

         22  determine which is the cheaper way of doing it, and

         23  what exactly is the practice.

         24                 As we form the capital company, one

         25  of the first agenda items that the new capital
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          2  company president will have will be to look at that

          3  particular issue. What is the most cost-effective

          4  way.

          5                 The second thing he or she will have

          6  on their agenda is to figure out, can we adopt

          7  innovative construction ideas, to bring these

          8  projects in in a much faster time, more efficient.

          9                 I mean, Triborough Bridges and

         10  Tunnels, the bridges and tunnels have been using

         11  some very innovative construction things that while

         12  it does take, you know, many, many years, they've

         13  been able to cut back several years off of different

         14  schedules, using new techniques that are used when

         15  you're up in other places in the United States. We

         16  need to start adopting that in some of our,

         17  particularly mega projects, East Side Access, Second

         18  Avenue Subway No. 7, just to name a few.

         19                 So, to answer your question, that's

         20  something the capital company president will be

         21  looking at very, very carefully.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you

         23  very much. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council

         25  Member Addabbo.
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          2                 And we have one last question from

          3  Council Member Reyna.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Thank you, Mr.

          5  Chair.

          6                 I just wanted to take a moment to

          7  understand what is a part-time and full-time booth,

          8  when it relates to the closing of any token booth?

          9                 MS. LAPP: Well, essentially, as you

         10  may know, there are token booths that are in our

         11  station where we only have people on at certain

         12  hours, particularly during certain rush hours, et

         13  cetera. They're not manned 24 hours a day.

         14                 A full-time booth is manned 24 hours

         15  a day by a token booth, and there are some stations,

         16  and I know you probably have them in your district,

         17  where you cannot gain access to -- you can't go down

         18  into one of the stations down in the steps, because

         19  they're closed, weekends particularly, after

         20  midnight, et cetera. Those are part-time, those are

         21  the areas where there's part time. So, that answers

         22  your question.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Now, I received

         24  your letter, and thank you very much. And you did

         25  make reference to a $1 billion deficit that remains,
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          2  and in trying to accomplish filling that deficit,

          3  you're trying to close down 177 booths?

          4                 MS. LAPP: Correct.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: But when I

          6  counted there's only 176, I don't know if there's

          7  one missing from your list.

          8                 MS. LAPP: I'll have to check that. I

          9  don't know.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: In addition to

         11  that, going back to Council Member Dilan's reference

         12  to North Brooklyn as a whole, and when we advocate

         13  for North Brooklyn, we never take into consideration

         14  just one district.

         15                 We have nine out of the 17 in

         16  Brooklyn that are being closed. Combination of

         17  part-time and full-time.

         18                 A part-time, when it's closed, that

         19  means there will be no one there. The part-time

         20  position that exists at the booth will be totally

         21  closed down?

         22                 MS. LAPP: Yes. However, there will

         23  always be a full-time booth in the complex. That

         24  part-time booth would be closed permanently, but

         25  there would always be -- we're only talking about
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          2  secondary booths in the station. So, that's the way

          3  --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: So at Lorimar

          5  Street, to take for example, I'm trying to

          6  understand this --

          7                 MS. LAPP: Okay.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: We have six

          9  part-time booths listed to shut down. These six have

         10  secondary booths?

         11                 MS. LAPP: No, those are secondary

         12  booths, and I don't want to comment particularly

         13  about that, but I will follow-up in letter form to

         14  you on that, since I'm not familiar with this

         15  station, so I don't want to misstate something, but

         16  the way it's been described, and the way Mr. Reuter

         17  has presented it to myself and to the Board, in each

         18  station where we would be closing a booth, there

         19  will always be 24/7 a token booth presence in the

         20  station.

         21                 So, I don't want to -- I'm writing

         22  this down and I'll get you an answer by close of

         23  business today, if you don't mind --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: I appreciate

         25  that.
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          2                 And then just in reference to the

          3  part time, there's four in North Brooklyn, part-time

          4  booths that will be closed, that means -- I'm sorry,

          5  a full-time. I apologize -- four full-time booths

          6  that will be closed along the L and J Line, one of

          7  which is Marcy Avenue.

          8                 Now, if I remember correctly, Marcy

          9  Avenue has grown increased ridership. I would say

         10  triple the amount of people go in and out of that

         11  station, and that's probably the only station during

         12  rushhour or off-peak hours, one of the two, where

         13  riders can get off if they want to go to a 15 mile

         14  radius there, or a 15-block radius, because it skips

         15  the Hugh stop and then the Lorimar stop and then it

         16  gets to Flushing, if we close down this particular

         17  station booth, what does that -- how will it impact,

         18  if you think it will impact ridership?

         19                 MS. LAPP: I'm not familiar with the

         20  Marcy station, but if I can't explain it to you,

         21  I'll have someone call you again, from Transit

         22  Authority who knows more about the station, can go

         23  through this with you.

         24                 And before I leave, I'll get you a

         25  telephone number.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And the

          3  full-time booths are where secondary booths are?

          4                 MS. LAPP: Let me make sure I say this

          5  correctly.

          6                 The booths we are closing are

          7  secondary booths in all of these stations, so they

          8  will always be a primary booth, covered 24/7 in

          9  every station where there is a booth closing. So,

         10  people will always be able to go to a token booth

         11  24/7 if they want to buy a MetroCard and don't want

         12  to use our vending machines or want to ask some

         13  questions of someone.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And I

         15  appreciate if someone does speak to me --

         16                 MS. LAPP: Absolutely.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: -- Concerning

         18  all of this.

         19                 I'm sorry, we're sneaking in

         20  questions here.

         21                 MS. LAPP: Okay.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: What happens if

         23  a woman wants to come in with a stroller? Where does

         24  she come in through?

         25                 MS. LAPP: There will always be an
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          2  entrance in the station where a token booth --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: The physical

          4  entrance will never be closed.

          5                 MS. LAPP: There will be a way in

          6  which the token booth, just like today, can buzz

          7  someone in.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: From the rear

          9  and the front?

         10                 MS. LAPP: I don't know what you mean

         11  by that, I'm sorry. And in those stations, can I

         12  just interrupt, because I can hear something from

         13  the gallery here.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Yes.

         15                 MS. LAPP: If there are stations where

         16  those types of situations are problematic, we will

         17  deal with them. I want to make something perfectly

         18  clear, as I've heard a lot of chatter, plus I've

         19  heard things in the paper, I read an article

         20  yesterday about the Fire Department not being able

         21  to get access, et cetera, we have been in touch with

         22  the highest levels of the Fire Department on this

         23  matter. They currently have total access, through

         24  either keys, et cetera, or jumping over the

         25  turnstiles, if they want to, or getting buzzed in by
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          2  the token booth. We are going through and have gone

          3  through these issues with the Fire Department, and

          4  as I said, I have met with Ray Kelly and with Chief

          5  Mike Scagnelli. We don't take this lightly, and I

          6  can say that I rely on Transit officials to go

          7  through these issues. I want to make a statement for

          8  the record.

          9                 If you, any one of you, or anyone

         10  else, has issues where you think the safety of

         11  getting access through Fire Department or a woman

         12  with a stroller, that that is not sufficiently

         13  addressed, please call me. Please tell me and I will

         14  go through it and I will have someone call you and

         15  address those.

         16                 I don't want people to think that I

         17  know exactly every single issue, particularly like

         18  with the Marcy Station, et cetera.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Right.

         20                 MS. LAPP: So, I don't want to be

         21  accused of just not knowing the answers.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Ms. Lapp,

         23  sometimes it's easier for me to sit here and say,

         24  you know, what's going to happen with A, B and C

         25  particular situations, and that's because I live in
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          2  the neighborhood, I access these services, and for

          3  years we've been complaining of the MTA not

          4  providing the adequate services.

          5                 MS. LAPP: Right.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: For instance,

          7  you know, the front of your train entrance will be

          8  open, but the rear is not, and, therefore, we only

          9  have exit through one side and not the other. And

         10  this has been ongoing.

         11                 MS. LAPP: Right.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: It's never been

         13  addressed. And therefore, in North Brooklyn, we're

         14  going to have additional services, and so the

         15  situation just gets worse.

         16                 I would love to invite you to my

         17  district, so you can see exactly what we're talking

         18  about, because you also have to put a visual picture

         19  behind your action, and how it's going to adversely

         20  affect a neighborhood.

         21                 I just wanted to, without having to

         22  belabor all of this any further, because we're going

         23  to have continuous conversations, and I look forward

         24  to that.

         25                 I just wanted to have some clarity on
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          2  whether or not the State did in fact issue the $250

          3  million to the New York City Transit, which was

          4  supposed to fill the deficit for the Year 2002, or

          5  at least a portion.

          6                 MR. CAPLAN: The money is in the bank.

          7                 MS. LAPP: Yes. We've already spent

          8  that money. That money was spun up by the state last

          9  year for our 2002 budget. Yes, we've received that

         10  money.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And that's 250

         12  million for the New York City Transit, and then 100

         13  million for the Long Island Railroad.

         14                 MS. LAPP: It's spread about. There's

         15  some other places that it goes. Bridges and tunnels,

         16  I guess, too, but it's a net number of like 360 of

         17  which I assume 250 went to Transit to fill the

         18  deficit for '02.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Okay.

         20  Wonderful.

         21                 I just wanted to make sure that I get

         22  a commitment from you that we will continue speaking

         23  of these different situations.

         24                 MS. LAPP: Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Because I feel
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          2  just as firm as the rest of my colleagues here do,

          3  that we need to continue this dialogue.

          4                 It's very difficult to get answers,

          5  waiting a year later, trying to formulate all of

          6  these questions over and over again. Finally we get

          7  you here and it's hard to keep up.

          8                 MS. LAPP: Right.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: You know, the

         10  numbers are not just black and white. You know,

         11  there's neighborhoods that we're trying to answer

         12  to, and the million dollar question is, do we have

         13  to swallow a fare increase and a cut in services.

         14  And I don't know if you can comment on that, whether

         15  or not we will see a fare increase, and will we see

         16  these cut in services?

         17                 MS. LAPP: I would be usurping the

         18  Board's authority if I were to say to you, yes, you

         19  will see that. That is not my authority, I'm

         20  governed by a Board.

         21                 So, that's part of the month-long

         22  hearing process we will be part of. And before I

         23  leave today I will get you a number and have someone

         24  call you by close of business today to talk about

         25  the issues, both on Lorimar and on Marcy and address
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          2  your issue on the stroller.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: I'm sorry,

          4  Chair.

          5                 Just to keep in mind, Ms. Lapp,

          6  neighborhoods such as ours and others similar to

          7  ours who don't have the fortunate situation to

          8  access computers are not really commenting on line,

          9  and therefore, your observation of the public may be

         10  skewed. And, so, we depend on these public hearings

         11  to service the different neighborhoods with

         12  translation services.

         13                 MS. LAPP: Right.

         14                 Well, we'll make sure we have that.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: So that is very

         16  important. Thank you.

         17                 MS. LAPP: And I just wanted to say

         18  that for the first time, the MTA prior to this point

         19  never puts all of this material on the web, and as

         20  I've said, if you get on and you click on the

         21  stations you're talking about, on the web you can

         22  get the actual blueprint of the station printed out.

         23                 I certainly understand that some

         24  people, either because of economic means, or just

         25  because they're not computer literate, I being one,
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          2  is not very easy to figure that out. So, that's why

          3  the Board does have five hearings in February to go

          4  to Brooklyn, Queens, Staten Island, and so on, to

          5  discuss these issues.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: A comment from

          7  Council Member Sears.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you very

          9  much. You've been here a long time.

         10                 Can you take back to the Board just a

         11  question, and I don't know whether it's possible,

         12  but I know it's done elsewhere. Perhaps the MTA

         13  Board might have some of their Board meetings

         14  throughout the City, and I mean having them held in

         15  the other Boroughs, they're always held at 342, I

         16  think, aren't they?

         17                 MS. LAPP: 47.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: 47.

         19                 47. I always call it 342.

         20                 And perhaps you might hear more from

         21  the public if the meetings were a little more

         22  accessible within the boroughs themselves. From

         23  Staten Island, to Brooklyn, to Queens, and the

         24  Bronx.

         25                 MS. LAPP: I'll certainly bring that
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          2  back.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you very

          4  much.

          5                 I think they would give the Board a

          6  far greater view of the fact of what the public --

          7  of having public participation. Not so much what

          8  they think, but the fact that the public will

          9  participate in that.

         10                 MS. LAPP: Right.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay, we're just

         13  nearing the end here, and I want to thank you for

         14  your patience. One quick question that some of my

         15  colleagues had as a follow-up to the token booth

         16  closing issue; what happens to the people who work

         17  in the token booths?

         18                 MS. LAPP: We expect, because I

         19  indicated earlier, the booths would be closed in a

         20  two-phase process, one in July and then in December.

         21  We fully expect that through either attrition,

         22  because it's one of the highest attrition titles we

         23  have, through attrition and then redeployment to

         24  some of the other booths, no one will be laid off as

         25  a result of this initiative.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.

          3                 And then I will only ask one more

          4  question of you, and that relates to the capital

          5  projects, because you also report to that.

          6                 MS. LAPP: Right.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: The capital

          8  expenditures of the MTA, how has that grown in the

          9  last two to three years, and is that -- how much of

         10  that is paid for through the collections of the fare

         11  box?

         12                 MR. CAPLAN: The MTA capital program,

         13  the last capital program, the '95 to '99 program,

         14  was about $12 billion.

         15                 The current capital program is

         16  approximately $19 billion, so that's the growth.

         17                 The current capital program has

         18  approximately 60 percent of its expenditures

         19  financed through internal sources. This includes the

         20  four and a half billion dollars of money from the

         21  restructuring, another roughly $779 billion worth of

         22  bonds, and a couple of other small things, I guess,

         23  at sales.

         24                 So, about 60 percent of that program,

         25  the $18.9 billion, is funded through what we call
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          2  internally generated resources.

          3                 MS. LAPP: I have a chart I can give

          4  to the Committee which breaks it out. It's in our

          5  capital plan.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So the annual budget

          7  of the MTA is roughly $7 billion?

          8                 MR. CAPLAN: Yes.

          9                 MS. LAPP: Seven and a half, yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And you're able to

         11  save through refinancing much of that debt, save

         12  about $630 million a year?

         13                 MS. LAPP: Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: For two years.

         15                 MS. LAPP: On the operating side,

         16  correct.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: How much of the $7

         18  billion today is due to debt service?

         19                 MR. CAPLAN: Let me get back to you

         20  with the number, it's something like 14 percent. But

         21  let me not say that's definitely, let me get back to

         22  you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Fourteen percent.

         24                 MR. CAPLAN: Let me say that's not

         25  definite. We'll get back to you.
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          2                 Because that's the number, the

          3  restructuring change, the way this goes, because

          4  there are temporary savings in interests costs

          5  because of the restructuring, but it has been in

          6  that 14 percent range.

          7                 Our debt service was $1.2 billion

          8  before restructuring.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, it's $1.2

         10  billion.

         11                 MR. CAPLAN: Before restructuring.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So you're basically

         13  -- and that's 1.2 a year out of the 7 billion a

         14  year?

         15                 MR. CAPLAN: Yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So you're basically,

         17  through the refinance you're able to save a quarter

         18  of that debt service?

         19                 MR. CAPLAN: Yes, over those two

         20  years.

         21                 MS. LAPP: Over the course of certain

         22  years.

         23                 MR. CAPLAN: Over those two years.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Oh, just over the

         25  two years.
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          2                 MS. LAPP: The way it's been explained

          3  to me, if I can, is like refinancing your credit

          4  card balance at a lower rate and you don't pay any

          5  principal for two years. They give you a pass on two

          6  years, and then you have to start paying it again.

          7  So, the savings that you generate by not paying that

          8  principal for two years is essentially the 600

          9  million, right? More or less.

         10                 MR. CAPLAN: Well, more or less. More

         11  or less. More or less. Yes, it's more or less.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And is this the

         13  first time that the MTA has engaged in this attempt

         14  at refinancing? Or has this approach been taken

         15  within the last three years?

         16                 MR. CAPLAN: The idea of refinancing

         17  itself is not new, right? You do, you refinance the

         18  lower interest rates all the time, like you do on

         19  your mortgage. What this did is not merely just a

         20  refinancing, and that's why we call it a

         21  restructuring. What it did was, (a), it gave us

         22  basically four and a half billion dollars of new

         23  capital resources without increasing our annual debt

         24  service, step one; step two, it gave us greater

         25  flexibility in those instruments.
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          2                 Our debt instruments were first

          3  developed 20 years ago. There are a lot of obsolete

          4  stuff, a lot of stuff that inhibits you and actually

          5  ends up costing you more money, and, so, we

          6  restructured our debt, the way the whole thing

          7  works.

          8                 One outcome of that, as Katie

          9  mentioned before, is that each of the bond rating

         10  agencies up the ratings on our credit by one to two

         11  notches, and that in turn translates into savings to

         12  the taxpayer.

         13                 MS. LAPP: One of the things that --

         14  well, I'll put a period after that and make another

         15  comment.

         16                 On our capital program, one of our

         17  first things that was brought to my attention when I

         18  got this job was that our capital plan that had been

         19  approved in May of 2000 goes through 2004, had a

         20  breakdown of all the things that would add up to the

         21  18 billion or so in our budget.

         22                 There were two holes that existed at

         23  that time that had not yet been addressed. There was

         24  three billion, of that 18 billion, was supposed to

         25  be made up through the debt restructuring that Gary
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          2  just mentioned. It had not been done yet. We were

          3  about to start that.

          4                 And the second part was 1.6 billion

          5  that was in that 18 million that was from that

          6  Transportation Bond Act of 2000, which we all know

          7  was killed.

          8                 So, we immediately, once that was,

          9  you know, voted down, we had a $1.6 billion problem

         10  in our budget. What was interesting was, through the

         11  debt restructuring, that Gary just mentioned, and

         12  because of the combination of the time we did it and

         13  the interest rates, we would not only have been able

         14  to fill that $3 billion plug, we made more money

         15  that we were able, in the capital side to fill the

         16  gap that was created with the Bond Act being voted

         17  down.

         18                 So, it was an interesting combination

         19  of time. If we had done that restructuring a little

         20  earlier, we probably would not have got that money

         21  and we probably would have been talking about

         22  cutting a billion-six out of our capital plan,

         23  which, as people know, is a lot of money from our

         24  budget.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: How many years has
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          2  debt service been a part of the MTA's operating

          3  budget?

          4                 MR. CAPLAN: The fare box bonds, as a

          5  lot of people call them started back in 1983.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, for the last 20

          7  years the fare box has been used to pay for capital

          8  improvements?

          9                 MR. CAPLAN: Right.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And I think in your

         11  old testimony you mentioned that in '96 and the few

         12  years after that, there were operating surpluses; is

         13  that correct?

         14                 MR. CAPLAN: Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, during that

         16  time, was any of that used to retire any debt? Or

         17  was that not feasible?

         18                 MR. CAPLAN: What that plan, the plan

         19  we put into place for that year, and what virtually

         20  every plan at MTA has done, has worked that way, has

         21  worked to where you sort of build up a surplus in

         22  the first couple of years of the plan, we do one

         23  fare increase basically, usually at the beginning of

         24  a plan, and that sort of carries you through the

         25  five years, and that's basically what that plan was
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          2  based upon, same kind of thing.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I understand that.

          4  Won't you also recall that there were some surpluses

          5  generated once you introduced MetroCard discounts,

          6  and once you eliminated two-fare zones that were not

          7  anticipated?

          8                 MR. CAPLAN: What happened, the

          9  original projections for MetroCard did not assume

         10  anything like this growth we've seen. Katie talked

         11  about it in her presentation. We had assumed for

         12  those purposes that we would be losing money as a

         13  result of the discounts, because we were basically

         14  bringing the fare back to where it was. In fact, for

         15  a variety of factors, our ridership has jumped, it

         16  has jumped by that more than a third. So that

         17  instead of losing money on the MetroCard discounts,

         18  we basically have kept, as Katie showed, our

         19  revenues are flat. That's what happened.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay, but that was

         21  still factored into your financial plan, and so it

         22  was a lot more money than you thought you would

         23  have.

         24                 MR. CAPLAN: You go back to the thing.

         25  The first thing we said we would do was to eliminate
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          2  two-fare zones. That was the 1995 plan.

          3                 Then we said, you know, we're not

          4  losing as much money as we thought we were. So the

          5  next thing we did, turned around and did, was to

          6  give the money back, and that's when we instituted

          7  the bonus programs and the pass programs, when we

          8  saw that we were actually generating more money.

          9                 So, what we did with those surpluses

         10  in a sense is to turn them back to the riders by

         11  giving them even greater discounts.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. Thank you very

         13  much for your time this morning and afternoon. I

         14  want to thank you for your patience, and for your

         15  willingness to come testify before this City Council

         16  Committee.

         17                 I hope you appreciate the fact that

         18  we are here not to give anybody any particular hard

         19  times, but the fact is that each and every one of my

         20  colleagues, we're at home, we're in our City Hall

         21  offices, we are peppered with questions and

         22  complaints from our constituents, who are very much

         23  concerned about any potential fare hike and any kind

         24  of reductions in services, including token booth

         25  closures.
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          2                 And, so, we need your help in giving

          3  them the right information, and so I think, I hope

          4  that this will be the start of really a process in

          5  which we can share more information, much more

          6  accurately and completely.

          7                 Thank you very much.

          8                 MS. LAPP: Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: At this time I'd

         10  like to ask the next panel to come up and testify,

         11  and that will be representatives of the Transit

         12  Workers Union, Local 100. George McCoranama, Ed Watt

         13  and Darlyne Lawson.

         14                 And after this panel I'd like to

         15  invite the representatives of the Independent Budget

         16  Office to testify.

         17                 Good afternoon. Welcome to this

         18  hearing. Ed.

         19                 MR. WATT: Good afternoon.

         20                 MS. LAWSON: Good afternoon.

         21                 MR. WATT: Thank you, Chairman Liu,

         22  and your entire Committee. We appreciate you giving

         23  us the opportunity to testify here today. I want to

         24  commend you on the excellent job that you and your

         25  Committee has done.
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          2                 I'd like to first start before my

          3  prepared remarks, I'd like to point out that it is

          4  very clear to us that as we had said several months

          5  ago we need an independent office that permanently

          6  audits the MTA's finances, and I think that the

          7  testimony that you just heard here today is actual

          8  testimony to that.

          9                 If you look at the facts, it's clear

         10  that ridership is up, revenue is up, the actual cost

         11  of a ride on today's subway is down, and that what

         12  any business would be doing in this situation is not

         13  cutting service and raising fares, but just the

         14  opposite. They would be continuing to provide more

         15  service.

         16                 Although you also hit on the

         17  structural problems that plague New York City

         18  Transit at the end, and that depending on who you

         19  talk to, the debt service takes between 14 and 19

         20  percent of your operating revenue, of the actual

         21  fare box revenue. So, if it was 14 percent of the

         22  actual operating budget, it would be closer to 19

         23  percent of the actual, of the fare box revenue,

         24  because that constitutes 60 percent approximately,

         25  okay?
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          2                 So, it is also very clear that it was

          3  the Comptroller's Office and not Gary Caplan who

          4  warned you about the deficit. Gary Caplan in his

          5  testimony on the 10th of October here, if you look

          6  back and check your records, you'll see that he

          7  talked about being unable to come up with even a

          8  ball park figure as to what the deficit was this

          9  year, and that you're also right and to be commended

         10  for talking about a five-year projection, instead of

         11  a one-year projection, the entire history of the MTA

         12  has been that they've issued the five-year plans at

         13  a time, and they should not be allowed to get away

         14  with only reporting one year at a time. The time

         15  bomb in the MTA is the debt service, which in 2005

         16  and 2006 will grow, even further.

         17                 The MTA, it's also abundantly clear

         18  that the MTA should be advocating, and we have

         19  offered to join with them in advocating, lobbying

         20  and acquiring as best we can subsidies from federal,

         21  state and local governments, and that for the MTA

         22  representatives to sit here and to tell you that

         23  they expect not to do that, shows you, is an

         24  indication I think of who they work for, and not the

         25  MTA or the riders of New York City's bus and
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          2  subways.

          3                 It's also very clear that we're here

          4  to say no fare hike and no service cuts.

          5                 As I said, I'm Ed Watt. I'm the

          6  Secretary Treasurer of Local 100, and on behalf of

          7  Roger Toussant, and the 38,000 men and women who

          8  move New York, I'd like to make these remarks.

          9                 Mass transit is the lifeblood of our

         10  local economy, and in the wake of September 11th and

         11  the Wall Street meltdown, rebuilding New York

         12  requires a world class, a vision for world class

         13  transportation.

         14                 Over the past five years, the Transit

         15  Authority has shown glimmerings of just such a

         16  vision, and the results have been positive.

         17                 Service improvements and discount

         18  fares have met with strong public and positive

         19  response. Subway ridership is up over 29 percent,

         20  and bus ridership is up over 50 percent.

         21                 This growth is important for

         22  maintaining the health of the transit system. It

         23  means that people are going to work, going to school

         24  and going to play, and it also means that they're

         25  fueling our local economy.
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          2                 While these developments are

          3  significant, more can and should be done. A prime

          4  example is the Bus Rapid Transit program that we

          5  have proposed in the past.

          6                 BRT is a program to enhance the speed

          7  and liability of bus transportation and make it an

          8  attractive alternative for all riders.

          9                 This can be achieved by speeding the

         10  flow of traffic and dedicated bus lanes, and

         11  reducing the dwell time in bus stops. BRT has been

         12  implemented in cities in the US and abroad

         13  successfully. It has significantly cut travel time,

         14  and by cutting travel time, it has also reduced

         15  operating costs.

         16                 It has attracted more riders to the

         17  buses, and, yes, it can be implemented cheaply and

         18  rapidly, and know in most of those towns it does not

         19  require scaring the commercial enterprises off the

         20  curb. It has actually run as center medians in most

         21  towns in which it is run in.

         22                 I think it disturbing that our

         23  previous speaker spoke of concerns about someone's

         24  ability to run into a store and buy a soda, and in

         25  the same breath was talking about stretching out the
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          2  distance from bus stops for our elderly to walk to.

          3                 We believe that bus rapid transit can

          4  be implemented on 45 percent of our surface routes,

          5  and that it will yield, improve service to riders,

          6  and a savings in the neighborhood of $300 million

          7  per year.

          8                 Regrettably, until this morning, all

          9  signs suggested the TA has abandoned its vision in

         10  favor of myopia and back-sliding, and that vision

         11  doesn't go just to our Bus Rapid Transit, but for

         12  all other service enhancements and efficiencies, as

         13  well.

         14                 Rather than looking for ways to

         15  develop mass transportation, the Transit Authority

         16  is spinning plans to shrink it. In proposing both a

         17  substantial fare hike and service cuts, the Transit

         18  Authority is offering the riders a deal of pay more

         19  and get less. If this goes through, the likely

         20  consequence will be a downward spiral with fare

         21  hikes and service cuts driving riders out of the

         22  system and declining ridership throughout the TA,

         23  sending them looking for yet more hikes, and more

         24  service cuts.

         25                 With this we will see not a march
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          2  forward into a new century, but a slide backwards

          3  into the conditions of the 1970s.

          4                 In November, when the MTA proposed --

          5  when the MTA introduced three alternative plans, the

          6  MTA gave the public the impression that a fare hike

          7  to $2 would prevent service cuts. If the MTA is in

          8  fact talking about service cuts in a range of areas,

          9  including cleaning, bus maintenance, paratransit and

         10  station services, these problems arise in part

         11  because the MTA lacks both the accountability to the

         12  public and the responsibility to the very

         13  institution it governs.

         14                 Neither through independent

         15  oversight, nor the presence of elected members on

         16  the Board is the MTA made accountable to the public.

         17                 Yet, at the same time, there is no

         18  requirement to enhance, strengthen and develop the

         19  mass transportation system, leaving that system prey

         20  to the priorities of a dubious political calculus.

         21                 Addressing the architecture of

         22  accountability is a long-term consideration. Among

         23  the proposals for reform deserving serious

         24  consideration are a provision for full disclosure of

         25  the proposed budget, 60 days before the hearing, the
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          2  establishment of an Independent Budget Office, to

          3  review all MTA contracts and financial statements,

          4  and possibly the addition of voting members to the

          5  MTA Board, representing the riding public in labor.

          6                 We look forward to working with

          7  elected officials at all levels of government to

          8  turn these measures into a reality.

          9                 In the immediate future, we must

         10  address the threatened service cuts and the pending

         11  fare hike, both of which weigh unjustly upon working

         12  people and who rely on mass transit every day.

         13                 Our union is adamantly opposed to

         14  these service cuts, as well as to a fare hike. We

         15  will work with the riders and community

         16  organizations with elected officials and with other

         17  labor unions to fight for jobs, fight for safety,

         18  and to fight for the future of mass transit in New

         19  York.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 With me is George McConanama from our

         22  staff, and our Vice President Darlyne Lawson, is the

         23  Vice President of the Stations Department, and if

         24  that's acceptable to you, would make some remarks

         25  now.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

          3                 MS. LAWSON: Good afternoon. And I

          4  want to, Chairman Liu, and I want to thank the panel

          5  for inviting the Transport Workers Union here today

          6  to testify. Thank you.

          7                 I'm going to read my testimony and

          8  then I would like you to ask me some questions,

          9  because I know there was a lot of questions

         10  unanswered in terms of service.

         11                 The current proposal to close 177, or

         12  about what we could state is one out of every four

         13  token booths in the system, is a prime example of

         14  MTA's sight -- shortsightedness. Closing these

         15  booths would mean serious dislocation of millions of

         16  passengers. It would be a step backwards on safety,

         17  and would hit with a particular severity against

         18  millions of New Yorkers unable to use high entrance

         19  and exit turnstiles, many of whom would effectively

         20  lose access to the system. That much cut -- that

         21  such cuts are being proposed with no attention to

         22  the social consequences boggles the imagination.

         23                 The MTA refers to the entrances it

         24  proposes to leave unserviced and relatively

         25  low-volume entrances. In fact, numbers of these
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          2  entrances are highly used, and the number of

          3  passengers affected will be substantial, running at

          4  least in millions. I had put 100,000, but I

          5  increased it, as you see.

          6                 The MTA minimizes the location by

          7  insisting that other booths will be open at the same

          8  stations, and that I need to elaborate on at the

          9  closing.

         10                 They neglected to mention that these

         11  other booths often lie across busy thoroughfares,

         12  and are sometimes two and three blocks away.

         13                 The MTA also attempts to minimize the

         14  dislocation by claiming that most of the entrances

         15  will remain accessible by the use of HEETs, that's

         16  High Entrance and Exit turnstiles. Yet, part of our

         17  ridership is unable to use these gates. This is true

         18  of those with strollers and large packages. It is

         19  furthermore true of those in wheelchairs or with

         20  seeing-eye dogs.

         21                 Yet, the MTA is simultaneously

         22  proposing to cut back on paratransit services.

         23                 That I said thousands, but I'm going

         24  to say with thousands of physically challenged New

         25  Yorkers will be shut out of all access to public
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          2  transportation if this plan goes through.

          3                 This proposal is being aired at a

          4  time when subway muggings are surging and police

          5  layoffs are being threatened. Yet, station agents

          6  assigned to those booths are a lifeline for

          7  passengers in distress.

          8                 They provide eyes and ears in a

          9  system where CC, which is closed-circuit TV

         10  functions poorly, and microphones function not at

         11  all. A lot of them are not functioning. They provide

         12  reliable emergency communication, their presence,

         13  and it is an important figure in terms of deterrent

         14  to crime. Shutting these booths is an invitation to

         15  disaster.

         16                 On September 11th, TA personnel

         17  played a key role in evacuating passengers to

         18  safety. The presence of station agents is a real

         19  assurance for the public today, but it will be a

         20  matter of life and death importance should the

         21  unthinkable happen again. It is incredible that the

         22  MTA has blatantly left September 11th out of their

         23  thinking.

         24                 The MTA also has overlooked the

         25  operational problems that these closings will pose.
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          2                 Large stretches of our system have

          3  only two sets of tracks. When there is an operating

          4  problem, and at times that work is in progress on

          5  the other side, trains are wrong-tracked. That is,

          6  they run on the opposite side and use the opposite

          7  platforms. What does the MTA propose to do under

          8  those conditions? They have no answer.

          9                 While MTA has ignored the social

         10  costs of closing these booths, it has also failed to

         11  take account of the costs of the extensive

         12  construction that those closings would require. And

         13  when I say more expenses, I'm talking about putting

         14  in more HEETs to accommodate entrance into the

         15  subway, entrance and exits.

         16                 Turnstiles would have to be removed

         17  or permanently gated, HEETs and other equipment

         18  installed, and other changes required. How much of

         19  the alleged first-year savings would these changes

         20  eat up? They have no answer.

         21                 The unconsciousness (sic) and

         22  omissions in the MTA's explanation raise serious

         23  questions about the aims of these proposed

         24  shutdowns. But one thing is certain, these shutdowns

         25  would be a disaster for rider services and for
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          2  safety and security in our transit system.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much

          5  for your thoughtful comments.

          6                 A question from Council Member

          7  Addabbo.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,

          9  Mr. Chair.

         10                 Again, I thank this panel for their

         11  time and testimony today, as well. In speaking of

         12  the booth closures and we speak earlier about the

         13  intended restructuring of the MTA, do you have any

         14  concerns about -- or what are your concerns about

         15  the employees that might be affected by those

         16  proposals?

         17                 MS. LAWSON: Well, I always contended

         18  that placing station agents outside the booth in

         19  which the MTA had planned to do, they never spoke

         20  about it today, here at this hearing, as roving

         21  station agents, will pose as a grave danger to

         22  station agents, as well as the riding public.

         23  Because if the station agents are not safe, then the

         24  riding public is not safe.

         25                 MR. WATT: Yes, Councilman, we're very

                                                            154

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  concerned about the restructuring.

          3                 As it applies to the New York City

          4  Transit Authority, we don't really see the

          5  difference in a bus company, and a subway company

          6  that is different than the Department of Buses and

          7  the Department of Subways, as it exists today.

          8                 So, I would really like to know what

          9  the $30 million, or at least what the Transit

         10  Authority's part of that savings is.

         11                 I think it's duplicative, and I think

         12  I'm concerned about the $850 million unfunded

         13  liability and the MAPSTOA, that's the buses in the

         14  Manhattan and Bronx, in the MAPSTOA pension plan,

         15  and we'd like to know how that is going to be

         16  resolved in their particular plan.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you.

         18                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much.

         20                 There are no questions, thank you

         21  very much for your time and for your patience --

         22                 MS. LAWSON: Okay.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: -- For sitting

         24  through this hearing this morning and this

         25  afternoon.
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          2                 MS. LAWSON: Thank you.

          3                 MR. WATT: Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I'd like to ask, we

          5  actually had Assemblyman Bill Colton sign up to

          6  testify. On, Assemblyman, let me ask the Independent

          7  Budget Office to grant me this discretion and ask

          8  our Assemblymember to come up and testify, and then

          9  I'd ask you to, the Independent Budget Office to

         10  testify immediately after the Assemblyman.

         11                 Please join us, Assemblyman. And it's

         12  good to have you in these Chambers.

         13                 Thank you for coming to this hearing

         14  this afternoon.

         15                 ASSEMBLYMAN COLTON: Yes, I would like

         16  to thank you, Chairman Liu, for having this hearing,

         17  which I think does bring a lot of enlightenment to a

         18  situation that can be very, very confusing, not only

         19  to the public in general, but also to elected

         20  officials and those in authority. So, I do

         21  appreciate you conducting this hearing for that

         22  purpose.

         23                 I am going to deviate somewhat from

         24  my prepared remarks to comment upon the Independent

         25  Budget Office report and also the station closings,
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          2  but back in December I presented a two-prong

          3  proposal requiring, number one, that a independent

          4  process be set up to require the Transit Authority,

          5  the MTA, to open its books, and also introducing the

          6  concept of a resident discounted MetroCard and a

          7  resident discount I'm told which the MTA currently

          8  collects for its bridges and tunnels.

          9                 I have been fielding questions

         10  regarding this, and I believe the proper way is to

         11  proceed by addressing the facts of who rides the

         12  subways.

         13                 It is a fact that 364,000 riders come

         14  into New York City on the Long Island Railroad,

         15  252,000 come in on the MetroNorth every workday;

         16  100,000 come in on Long Island buses every workday,

         17  and 250,000 commuters come into New York City from

         18  New Jersey.

         19                 There are 825,000 vehicles entering

         20  New York City every day on the bridges and tunnels.

         21                 It's also a fact that while Transit

         22  riders in Chicago and Washington, D.C., pay only 43

         23  percent of the actual cost of the ride and riders in

         24  San Francisco, Boston and Atlanta, all pay less than

         25  30 percent of the cost of the ride. New York City
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          2  riders currently pay 58 percent of the cost of the

          3  ride.

          4                 The report of the Independent Budget

          5  Office released yesterday reiterates what others and

          6  I have been saying for weeks. It is clear there is a

          7  need for an independent process, requiring not only

          8  the disclosure of raw figures by the MTA, but also

          9  analyzing how this impacts upon the overall

         10  transportation plan, the public transit plan for the

         11  region.

         12                 The bulk of the financial problems

         13  that are currently plaguing the New York City

         14  Transit system are the result of an equitable, a

         15  lack of equitable funding from the State and the

         16  City, especially in the area of needed funds for the

         17  maintenance of capital improvements and

         18  infrastructure.

         19                 We've heard today foot dragging by

         20  the MTA in regards to the Rapid Bus Transit

         21  proposals, which could save hundreds of millions of

         22  dollars, while at the same time pushing a proposal

         23  which would reduce token booths, close token booths,

         24  saving a considerably lesser figure, and yet

         25  imposing a great danger to the safety and the
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          2  convenience of many riders in New York City.

          3                 To get down to specifics, the MTA has

          4  equally jumped on the fare and toll increase

          5  bandwagon as a quick fix solution. Could it be

          6  because the MTA is using its secret budgetary

          7  practices to conceal the true nature of the problem?

          8                 According to a December 2002 report

          9  published by the New York City Comptroller, William

         10  Thompson, this past May the MTA began a series of

         11  debt restructuring programs, with the aim, according

         12  to that report, not to lower total debt service

         13  charges, but to extend the payments and to borrow

         14  more for its capital projects.

         15                 Now, we've heard the MTA say that

         16  this has brought about $600 million of savings.

         17                 We then heard it said that the

         18  savings were being brought about because as part of

         19  the restructuring, for the first two years payments

         20  would not have to be made. What happens at the end

         21  of those two years? Payments will have to be made,

         22  and in fact, I think it will be shown, that they

         23  will continually escalate year-by-year after that to

         24  the point where riders will be faced with one fare

         25  increase after another.
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          2                 All of this was done without open

          3  disclosure of the long-term financial consequences

          4  of the plan. I have long believed that debt service

          5  charges are a primary driving force to the MTA's

          6  proposed fare increase.

          7                 The MTA admits on its website that

          8  ridership has risen, operational expenses, aside

          9  from the debt service charges that are included in

         10  them, have in fact remained not vastly increased,

         11  and recurring tax revenues have been level.

         12                 The persistent reduction of state and

         13  City funding for needed capital improvements,

         14  through the early nineties and culminating in 1995,

         15  when monies for State and capital improvements were

         16  greatly reduced, and the result in borrowing has

         17  placed an unfair burden on New York City Transit

         18  Riders and taxpayers.

         19                 The lack of a process mandating that

         20  the MTA provide full disclosure of its financial

         21  state has concealed the escalating debt service

         22  charges, many of which are on projects that involve

         23  not only New York City riders, but also commuters

         24  coming into the City, subjecting New York City

         25  residents with the prospects of ever-increasing
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          2  fares.

          3                 I am proposing that non-residents who

          4  ride the subways and buses, as a last stage of their

          5  commute, and those who use the bridges and tunnels

          6  to get into New York City area from outside the five

          7  boroughs, pay a greater price for the public transit

          8  services they use.

          9                 The technology exists to create

         10  discounted resident MetroCards for subways and

         11  buses, and resident EZ-Passes for the tolls, bridges

         12  and tunnels.

         13                 Discounted MetroCards are available

         14  for seniors and those who have special disabilities.

         15                 The processing is currently done at

         16  370 Jay Street in Brooklyn, through MetroCard buses

         17  which are available throughout the City's limits.

         18                 Granted it will take a considerable

         19  amount of time to register all those who qualify,

         20  but it is technologically feasible.

         21                 Resident EZ-Passes would be processed

         22  in the same manner as the current discounts

         23  available to Staten Island residents paying for the

         24  Verrazano Bridge toll.

         25                 The first step is to have the MTA
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          2  open its books to the public and set up a procedure

          3  whereby there will be an independent process

          4  examining and auditing the MTA's books, so that all

          5  can see the particulars of any particular deficit or

          6  plan. However, I am going a step further in

          7  proposing a unique relief package for City

          8  residents. The Resident MetroCard discount I have a

          9  proposed is a ray of light in an ominous forecast

         10  for our citizens.

         11                 Let it be clear, this idea is not a

         12  punishment to suburbia. This is a call for help.

         13                 We are in trouble in New York City,

         14  and I understand there are troubles elsewhere, but

         15  having the City and its transit system continuously

         16  run up red ink, as well as the ever-increasing

         17  burdens on the families who live in the City, have

         18  great consequences, and will extend well above and

         19  beyond the City boundaries.

         20                 There is a reason why 900,000

         21  commuters make their livelihood in New York City. It

         22  is easily accessible with an array of bridges,

         23  tunnels and public transit. It is a beacon to the

         24  financial world, rich with culture, and as Mayor

         25  Bloomberg puts it, the City is safe.
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          2                 All of these factors come into play

          3  in making New York City the destination for some

          4  900,000 jobs for non-residents.

          5                 In 1999, a commuter tax on

          6  non-residents, bringing over $500 million to New

          7  York City was repealed. The non-resident MetroCard

          8  and increased tolls collectively create a small

          9  alternative to the lost revenues of that commuter

         10  tax.

         11                 If the two-pronged approach of

         12  opening the books and introducing the non-resident

         13  fare is implemented, then non-City residents can at

         14  least rest assured that the higher fares would be

         15  contributing to the maintenance of the bridges,

         16  tunnels, subways, buses, ferries and public transit

         17  infrastructure that they require to be able to earn

         18  their livelihood.

         19                 Suburban and out-of-state commuters

         20  know very well why they work in the City, and they

         21  should not too hastily be reluctant to open their

         22  wallets just a little bit to contribute to the

         23  vitality of the metropolis and to help keep strong

         24  its economy on which they rely.

         25                 A strong New York City equals a
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          2  strong state, as well as country.

          3                 Indeed, the hard-working and caring

          4  families in New York City deserve much credit for

          5  making this City the entrance ramp to the American

          6  dream.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much

          8  for your thoughtful comments, Assemblyman.

          9                 Do we have any questions from the

         10  Committee?

         11                 Thank you for your time. I know it's

         12  been a long hearing. Thank you.

         13                 I'd like to now invite the

         14  Independent Budget Office to provide us with your

         15  comments.

         16                 Thank you for coming and for waiting

         17  so long. And immediately after the Independent

         18  Budget Office, I'd like to ask the members of Local

         19  375 to testify.

         20                 Preston, welcome.

         21                 MR. NIBLACK: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         22  Thank you. I commend you for your stamina today.

         23                 And in the interest of just getting

         24  through I think what you have already read, you all

         25  received copies of our report, handing my prepared
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          2  statement. I just want to briefly make clear what

          3  exactly we did in our report and I think clarify

          4  some of what seems like it may have been a dispute.

          5                 There is no dispute between the MTA

          6  and the Independent Budget Office about the numbers.

          7  We used the MTA's numbers in our review.

          8                 Ms. Lapp put up a couple of the

          9  charts from the November Board presentation, which

         10  showed the $2.8 billion gap, and then you put your

         11  finger right on it, Mr. Chairman, by noting that

         12  there were then a series of actions that were taken,

         13  totaling about 1.7, 1.8, which left a $951 million

         14  gap. It's that $951 million gap that the MTA is now

         15  proposing to close through a combination of fare

         16  hikes and some service reductions.

         17                 If you look at the 2003 budget for

         18  the MTA and the component agencies, which was

         19  released in December, all of those $1.8 billion in

         20  savings that were kind of, you know, above the line,

         21  were assumed in the budget, leaving them a gap of

         22  $951 million over two years, 236, almost all of

         23  which is New York City Transit in the first year,

         24  and then 716 in the second year.

         25                 So, I just wanted to, you know, make

                                                            165

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  clear exactly what it was that we were doing in our

          3  review of the numbers, and, you know, I think at

          4  this point you appreciate that we didn't discover

          5  anything, we just were trying to elucidate a little

          6  bit what perhaps may have been confusing to a lot of

          7  people.

          8                 With that I think I'll just stop and

          9  if you have questions I'd be happy to answer them.

         10  Or if you'd like to go to lunch, we can do that too.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you. That

         12  would be nice, but we have awhile to go yet. So, I

         13  really do want to thank everybody for having the

         14  patience to sit through a long hearing.

         15                 The potential solutions that they

         16  listed up there, in your opinion, are those doable,

         17  or perhaps the IBO didn't do an analysis of whether

         18  they were realistic or not?

         19                 MR. NIBLACK: Well, as we said, I

         20  actually said, I actually think that there is a lot

         21  of information available from the MTA about their

         22  budget, and financial situation.

         23                 What's not available that as an

         24  analyst of the City budget I'm sort of used to

         25  seeing is a detailed description of what exactly
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          2  their posing, the actions that they're proposing to

          3  close the gap. And I only just saw today a one-page

          4  list of the peg program, which I had not seen

          5  before.

          6                 Absent that information, I mean even

          7  the list by itself is not enough to give me enough

          8  to make any kind of independent evaluation. Absent

          9  more detail, it's not possible to say whether this

         10  is a firm gap number or whether you think there's a

         11  risk this way or a risk the other way.

         12                 In that sense, you know, for those of

         13  you who are sort of used to the City's budget as a

         14  model, the MTA's reporting is, you know, provides

         15  less than what we're used to from the City.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: One of the other

         17  difficulties I had with the presentation from the

         18  MTA is that they -- token booth closures are a

         19  reduction in service. I don't know if they're

         20  asserting that they're not a reduction in service.

         21  So, it seems to me that there is kind of like an

         22  above the line item that includes some reductions --

         23                 MR. NIBLACK: Yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: As well as a kind of

         25  below the line item. Why would there be two separate
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          2  lines for this purpose?

          3                 I know it would only be conjecture on

          4  the part of the IBO, or -- I mean, I shouldn't say

          5  conjecture, but informed, an informed theory.

          6                 MR. NIBLACK: Well, it would be

          7  conjecture, and it would be somewhat uninformed

          8  conjecture in fact and that's, you know, I think

          9  part of what has been the issue, you know, it's not

         10  so much, if this were a City budget presentation,

         11  you know, we'd say here's the gap, this is how we

         12  got to the gap, and then this is what we're going to

         13  do. These are the measures we're going to take to

         14  close the gap, and you know, you can go through it

         15  and you can make judgments about whether that

         16  represents a service reduction.

         17                 We've, you know, in the last couple

         18  rounds of budget and financial plans that the Mayor

         19  has presented, we've gone through the exercises

         20  saying the agency peg program consists of both

         21  program cuts, service reductions, sort of

         22  unspecified cutbacks, funding swaps, re-estimates of

         23  spending, it's not all cuts in service, that level

         24  of detail is not available from the MTA's

         25  presentation, and, so, you know, what logic impels
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          2  them to put one thing, one place and one thing, and

          3  the other is not transparent and I can't tell you

          4  much about it.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

          6                 Are there any questions from my

          7  colleagues?

          8                 Thank you. And I do want to commend

          9  the IBO for doing this report. It was extremely

         10  timely, I'm sure it was purely coincidental, but it

         11  was extremely helpful in helping New Yorkers

         12  understand exactly what is going on at the MTA, and

         13  what kind of financial situation are riders and the

         14  MTA faced with.

         15                 Thank you for your efforts.

         16                 MR. NIBLACK: Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I'd like to now ask

         18  the members of Local 375, Claude Forte, Bob Mariano,

         19  Leon Soffin and Bob Ungar, to come up to the witness

         20  table and immediately after that I'd like to ask

         21  that the members of the State of Affair Campaign and

         22  Straphangers Campaign to testify.

         23                 I'm going to ask Council Member Sears

         24  to briefly chair this hearing, just because I have a

         25  rather urgent need that needs to be filled, just for

                                                            169

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  a couple of minutes.

          3                 Council Member Sears.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Welcome. It's

          5  good to see you again, Mr. Forte.

          6                 MR. FORTE: Thank you very much, Madam

          7  Chair.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Do you want to

          9  introduce yourselves first in the order? And will

         10  you all be speaking or is it one solid presentation?

         11                 MR. UNGAR: I'll only be speaking if

         12  they need some help.

         13                 I'm Robert Ungar. I'm the Legislative

         14  Counsel of Local 375.

         15                 MR. FORT: My name is Claude Forte.

         16  I'm President of Local 375.

         17                 MR. SOFFIN: My name is Leon Soffin,

         18  I'm with Local 375.

         19                 MR. MARIANO: I'm Bob Mariano, Local

         20  375.

         21                 MR. SOFFIN: My name is Leon Soffin.

         22  I'm a Professional Engineer working with Local 375.

         23                 MR. MARIANO: I'm Bob Mariano, I'm

         24  Treasurer of Local 375, and I'm President of Transit

         25  Chapter 2, which as 1,200 members.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you, Mr.

          3  Ungar. Oh, Mr. Forte.

          4                 MR. FORT: Thank you very much. Thank

          5  you very much, Madam Chair, and it's a pleasure to

          6  see you again.

          7                 Now, on behalf of the 7,000 engineers

          8  and architects that we represent, I want to thank

          9  you and thank the panel for giving us the time to

         10  make this presentation today.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you for

         12  waiting as you have.

         13                 MR. FORT: Our pleasure. I mean, you

         14  know, we're very impressed and very pleased with the

         15  questions that the panel asked MTA today, and, you

         16  know, we can provide some clarity on some of the

         17  aspects of the questions that were asked before.

         18                 But we have written testimony and

         19  with your permission, I will go forward with it.

         20                 Our purpose in appearing before you

         21  today is to express our concern regarding the effect

         22  of the restructuring on the job security,

         23  professional responsibilities of our members,

         24  contracting out of engineering services and

         25  collective bargaining representation.
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          2                 Local 375, with a total of 7,000

          3  employees, represents 1,200 members of the New York

          4  City Transit Authority.

          5                 We plan, design and supervise the

          6  construction of mass transit infrastructure.

          7                 We have submitted questions to the

          8  Committee on the above and related issues and

          9  respectfully request the Committee using its power

         10  of review and oversight to investigate the issues

         11  and questions we have presented.

         12                 Although the MTA press release speaks

         13  of the need to "streamline the MTA" we are concerned

         14  that this may be a cover leading to the large-scale

         15  contracting out of engineering services to

         16  consultants by the new agencies, MTA subways and MTA

         17  capital.

         18                 We assume that the "restructuring"

         19  may lead to a substantial increase in contracting

         20  out. Our position is that MTA engineering services

         21  should be performed by the in-house engineering

         22  staff.

         23                 The in-house staff at the MTA has the

         24  expertise for the required engineering services for

         25  capital projects.
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          2                 Their knowledge of these projects is

          3  invaluable and cannot be matched by consultants.

          4  They provide professional/technical oversight of

          5  consultant work, they correct consultant errors and

          6  have unequalled knowledge of the MTA's

          7  specifications, standards and details. Their work is

          8  crucial in carrying out the goals and capital

          9  program of the MTA.

         10                 Civil Service Technical Guild

         11  strongly believes that MTA capital projects will be

         12  designed and inspected more competently at a

         13  significantly lower cost by the experienced in-house

         14  staff.

         15                 Doing the engineering services

         16  in-house will help to achieve the following:

         17                 1) Utilize the specialization and

         18  expertise of the in-house staff.

         19                 Eliminate costs associated with the

         20  consultant selection and administrative process.

         21                 Eliminate the profit factor added to

         22  every consultant contract.

         23                 Contracting out add an expensive

         24  burden to the cost of a project and loss of in-house

         25  expertise. First, it involves costly administration
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          2  and supervision by agency staff which averages 20 to

          3  30 percent of the consultant cost.

          4                 Then, there is the profit factor of

          5  at least ten to 15 percent for the consultant's

          6  benefit.

          7                 There are significant costs to

          8  monitor a consultant, review his work and provide

          9  payment. In-house projects will be designed and let

         10  for bid and award substantially sooner than if done

         11  by consultants.

         12                 This will save hundreds of millions

         13  of dollars that will result from getting bids sooner

         14  in today's exceptionally competitive climate.

         15                 Investment in an in-house technical

         16  force will have long-term pay-offs:

         17                 - an experienced workforce from which

         18  to draw supervisors.

         19                 - competition will drive down

         20  consultants' prices and improve quality.

         21                 - higher quality in-house work

         22  results in reduced field change orders.

         23                 Local 375 firmly believes that public

         24  services are best delivered by a skilled, committed

         25  in-house staff of professionals, who have the
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          2  expertise and experience to address the technical

          3  challenges posted by the MTA's ever-aging

          4  infrastructure.

          5                 There are several obvious, but

          6  nevertheless important reasons which support our

          7  position.

          8                 First, in-house expertise may be

          9  readily called upon.

         10                 Second, in-house staff has the

         11  historic and institutional knowledge of MTA

         12  projects.

         13                 Third, in-house staff will never

         14  jeopardize public safety for-profit.

         15                 The bottom line is that TA engineers

         16  perform the engineering work at a higher quality, at

         17  a lower cost and on time.

         18                 Thank you very much.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you, Mr.

         20  Fort.

         21                 I just have a question. The

         22  contracting out has always been a big issue, and

         23  some of the questions that have been raised about

         24  contracting out is that perhaps the scope of the

         25  work that has to be done overburdens the existing
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          2  personnel that are already in that area, or that

          3  they may have to hire additional temporary men or

          4  women to do so. Can you address that for a moment,

          5  because those are some of the things that I have

          6  heard, in terms of defending contracting out.

          7                 MR. FORT: Sometimes the agency claim

          8  that it's sort of personnel to do the work. But in

          9  the big projects, like the Second Avenue Subway,

         10  which initial design cost $255 million, and the

         11  final design is scheduled to cost like $400 million,

         12  I think it's worth it to hire additional staff

         13  because you have not only the design aspect, you

         14  have the constructional aspect where you will need a

         15  lot of supervision. Supervision only of this project

         16  is $750 million, so you can hire the staff and have

         17  the staff there for ten, 15 years. So, it makes

         18  sense to do that, because if we do this kind of work

         19  in-house, we have made a study on the Second Avenue

         20  Subway, the preliminary design will cost $255

         21  million if done outside by the private consultant,

         22  it will cost us in-house $90 million if we do it by

         23  our experienced professionals.

         24                 The final design, which will cost

         25  $400 million will cost us $180 million if we do it

                                                            176

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  in-house. So, we have a lot of space. We can sure

          3  hire a professional, and keep them for this project

          4  and for the supervision of that project, because

          5  it's a long project and we have more coming, so it

          6  makes sense to do that, as opposed to take the money

          7  and waste it on private consultants.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: You also make

          9  the comment about the time frame that going out

         10  through the bid process, which is very timely; have

         11  you found that this is such, this in itself

         12  increases the cost? Because the time frame in which

         13  we go through this governmental process, when

         14  probably in reality you could speed that process up

         15  with the manpower that you have to at least begin to

         16  start it.

         17                 MR. FORT: Absolutely. Because when

         18  the job is being done outside, we, in-house, we have

         19  to review the job, we've got to correct the

         20  mistakes, we've got to administer the job, we have

         21  to audit it. So, it's a lot of time. It's a lot of

         22  time, it's a lot of money, too, because we get bid

         23  to do that, and in addition to what the consultant

         24  is doing. So, we review, we administer, we audit, we

         25  prepare the contract, we negotiate the contract. We
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          2  can save all this time and energy and money by just

          3  doing the job in-house.

          4                 So, you are right, yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you very

          6  much.

          7                 Councilman Addabbo, do you have

          8  anything?

          9                 MR. MARIANO: Could I add something?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Yes, sure.

         11                 MR. MARIANO: You know, the MTA, the

         12  New York City TA is contracting out more and more

         13  engineering work, engineering architectural work,

         14  but the thing is, they have never justified the

         15  contracting out. In other words, they've never made,

         16  to our knowledge, comparative cost analysis of what

         17  it would cost if the design and inspection was done

         18  in-house versus consultants.

         19                 Now, I'm sure we heard of the McCall

         20  Report. Former State Comptroller McCall made a

         21  report, and audit of the New York State Department

         22  of Transportation, New York State. And in his

         23  recommendations he said, before you contract out to

         24  consultants, make a comparative cost analysis.

         25  Unfortunately, we don't have the copy right here but
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          2  we can get it to the Committee. And he said that the

          3  consultants are very costly, and there has to be a

          4  very good reason why you're giving them the work.

          5                 Now, an agency of this size, not to

          6  make comparative cost analysis, in other words, they

          7  have to justify, the key word is justify why they

          8  are contracting out.

          9                 Now, most of the time, dwelling on

         10  what you said, Madam Chairman, most of the time they

         11  say either we don't have the staff. Once in a blue

         12  moon they say we don't have the expertise, but the

         13  point is, if it costs money to hire more people, it

         14  costs more money to contract out the work. In other

         15  words, they would rather spend money in contracting

         16  out, which is not cost effective, then to spend

         17  money on hiring which is cost effective because the

         18  design and inspection by virtue of the fact of our

         19  quality work, will save more money than by

         20  contracting out.

         21                 So, I want to emphasize one thing,

         22  that the Committee maybe should ask the MTA how do

         23  they justify, by terms of comparative, the key words

         24  are comparative cost analysis, why don't they

         25  perform comparative cost analysis before they
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          2  contract out the work? And the McCall report says

          3  the same thing. Thank you.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: We will take

          5  note of that. Just one other question. In terms of

          6  the contracting out and the cost savings, when it

          7  has been contracted out and the work has been done,

          8  have you found that either you run into overruns,

          9  delays, perhaps change orders, et cetera, that

         10  happen because they are not familiar with the agency

         11  and the work that is being done?

         12                 MR. FORT: Absolutely. And it's all

         13  over. It is in every agency that we represent. And

         14  we have a clear example of the School Construction

         15  Authority, although we are not talking about that

         16  now. But we found out that when the job is done by

         17  outside consultants, most of the time you have cost

         18  overruns, because you have expensive change orders,

         19  and the job is done incorrectly, you know, there are

         20  a lot of design errors and omissions, and once you

         21  beat the job and the contractor found out that there

         22  is a mistake, that said. You know, we have expensive

         23  change orders as a result of this. And when we do

         24  the job in-house, we do good quality work that needs

         25  no correction. It can go straight in the
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          2  construction. And as a result, when the school is

          3  designed by our staff, it costs $90 less a square

          4  foot to build, than a school which is designed by

          5  outside firm. Our price is $340 per square foot,

          6  their price is $430 per square foot. So, if we have

          7  a school of 100,000 square feet, we are talking

          8  about a savings of $9 million on one school. If you

          9  build ten schools, your savings are going to be $90

         10  million. And with $9 million, you can add another

         11  200 seats for the children. You know, this is what

         12  we are talking about. It's not only about saving our

         13  job. It's about saving the taxpayers' money and

         14  afford every child in the City to find a seat in the

         15  schools, you know?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: And certainly

         17  at a time when the City has to look at how it's

         18  going to do things, certainly these are things that

         19  have to be looked at.

         20                 MR. FORT: Yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: So I thank you

         22  very, very much.

         23                 MR. MARIANO: Could I just add one

         24  thing, Madam Chair?

         25                 I just want to use an example of how
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          2  our in-house staff performed, and that was the

          3  restoration of the 1 and 9 lines. That was done

          4  in-house. Our engineering and architectural staff

          5  produced 500 drawings, more than 500 drawings in a

          6  five-week span. We supervised the construction. It

          7  was completed more than a year ahead of schedule,

          8  and it came in under budget. I think the original

          9  budget was somewhere around 160, 170 million, and it

         10  came in about 110 million. So, there's a prime

         11  example, here's something that had to be done, they

         12  didn't want to give it out to a consultant because

         13  no consultant would undertake this task. They relied

         14  on the expertise and the knowledge of our in-house

         15  group and they pulled together and they got the job

         16  completed.

         17                 And I don't think they got enough

         18  credit for the work that they performed. All they

         19  got was a pat on the back and nice little lunch from

         20  the staff. But they really deserve all the credit

         21  for helping bring back lower Manhattan from where it

         22  was.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: You may not

         24  have gotten all the credit, but it certainly is a

         25  fine example of how you can accomplish with in-house
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          2  doing that. It's a good point.

          3                 MR. SOFFIN: Can I get one thing? One

          4  of our main concerns regarding the restructuring,

          5  Katherine Lapp mentioned about this new agency MTA

          6  Capital.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Yes.

          8                 MR. SOFFIN: Now, one of our main

          9  concerns, we don't have enough information about

         10  it, but one of our main concerns is that under the

         11  cover of streamlining the MTA, they may, with this

         12  new agency decide to contract out all the expansion

         13  work, like the East Side Access, Second Avenue

         14  Subway, and the extension of the Seventh Avenue

         15  Line.

         16                 Now, in other words, we don't know

         17  for sure, but it could be that our in-house

         18  expertise will only be used for engineering services

         19  for the existing subway system and so on, and maybe,

         20  in other words, this is one of the things, may I

         21  recommend that the Committee should look into, will

         22  this new agency under the guise of cost

         23  effectiveness really contract out all the expansion

         24  of the transportation projects, not the engineering

         25  services regarding the subway system so much, but

                                                            183

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  East Side Access, extension of the Seventh Avenue

          3  Subway and the Second Avenue Subway.

          4                 So, we're afraid that this may be

          5  done. We don't have the information. I think the

          6  Committee would do a great service if you would find

          7  out if this is their intent, because we don't have

          8  enough information about it.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: All right. I

         11  thank you very much.

         12                 MR. MARIANO: Thank you very much,

         13  Madam Chair.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you.

         15                 Next panel coming together is Susan

         16  Stetzer and Gene Russianoff.

         17                 MS. STETZER: Good afternoon. My name

         18  is Susan Stetzer, and I am Transit Campaign Director

         19  at Citizen Action of New York.

         20                 Citizen Action is a Founding Member

         21  of the Save The Fare Coalition and I'm presenting

         22  this testimony for the Coalition.

         23                 I want to thank you for this

         24  opportunity to testify for the second time. At your

         25  first City Council hearing regarding the fare
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          2  increase, members of the Coalition and I testified

          3  about this impact of a fare increase on many

          4  communities in New York City. I will not repeat this

          5  testimony because I know that you understand and are

          6  concerned about the negative impact a fare hike and

          7  service cuts will have to Transit riders and on our

          8  economy.

          9                 The Save The Fare Coalition is

         10  comprised of 103-member organizations, as well as

         11  other opponents of the fare hike, including

         12  religious organizations, civic groups and

         13  individuals.

         14                 We are now reaching out to

         15  communities and being contacted to mobilize for the

         16  MTA public hearings, and attached to my testimony is

         17  a more detailed position the Coalition has taken, as

         18  well as the members of the Coalition.

         19                 The Coalition has officially taken a

         20  four-point position: no fare increase; no service

         21  cuts; the MTA must open their books, we support the

         22  call for an independent audit; and we believe the

         23  budget gap must be closed by saving measures and

         24  targeted revenues. Although I think our saving

         25  measures are different ones than the MTA's are.
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          2                 First of all, we are dealing with a

          3  credibility issue. The MTA does not legally have to

          4  open their books, and they will not.

          5                 We, the public, are being taxed for

          6  using a public service, but the operating authority

          7  is legally treated like a private corporation with

          8  no accountability.

          9                 This discrepancy must be dealt with

         10  by new State legislation. In the meantime, we are

         11  asking our City Council, and other local elected

         12  officials to call for an independent audit of the

         13  MTA books before a fare hike and service cuts is

         14  voted on.

         15                 To further decrease credibility, the

         16  MTA first proposed a fare hike option that included

         17  no fare, or options that included no fare hikes and

         18  severe service cuts. This option has disappeared,

         19  and we are faced with a devastating combination of

         20  hikes and severe service cuts.

         21                 It does not appear the MTA management

         22  has a grip on their plans, and they certainly have

         23  not convinced the public that they can be believed

         24  or trusted with responsible planning.

         25                 The token booth closings and
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          2  elimination of conductors were announced this week,

          3  but I'm told these proposals have been discussed in

          4  meetings and have been in the works for quite

          5  awhile.

          6                 The closing of 177 token booths will

          7  create serious access problems for the disabled

          8  community, people with carriages, travelers with

          9  packages and bags and many others.

         10                 In addition, the lack of a clerk in a

         11  station poses many serious safety problems for New

         12  Yorkers.

         13                 We urge the City Council to use all

         14  political pressure to stop these closings.

         15                 The MTA has stated they will give

         16  serious consideration to cost saving proposals, such

         17  as those put forth by TW for Rapid Transit Bus, and

         18  in-house work instead of outside contracting.

         19                 So, how can they call for a fare hike

         20  and service cuts until this analysis is complete,

         21  and how can they hold public hearings for public

         22  input before giving this complete information to the

         23  public? Is it any wonder that everyone thinks this

         24  is a done political deal?

         25                 The public has lost faith that the
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          2  MTA is operating our transit system for a best

          3  benefit.

          4                 For instance, we don't understand why

          5  the MTA doesn't change its contracting policies so

          6  that more work can be done in-house, especially when

          7  it appears that many companies and individuals who

          8  directly benefit from excessive expenditures are

          9  large contributors to Governor Pataki who controls

         10  the MTA.

         11                 I have been told that at an MTA

         12  meeting at least one Board member objected to a

         13  contract being awarded to a single bidder without

         14  competitive bidding, but he was not successful in

         15  having another round of bids sent out.

         16                 Citizen Action has issued a report

         17  that cites a report issued in October '98 by then

         18  New York City Transit Chief Engineer Mysore Nagaraja

         19  for the Federal Transportation Authority. The report

         20  justified using in-house employees to do major

         21  subway station rehabilitation projects, rather than

         22  awarding contracts to private companies.

         23                 He concluded the MTA staff was able

         24  to rehab subway stations at a lower cost more

         25  quickly and with higher quality than the work done
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          2  by outside contractors.

          3                 We are being asked to pay for a

          4  budget gap contributed to by $10 million in fraud

          5  and cost overruns in excess of 250 million in the

          6  renovation of the new MTA headquarters at 2

          7  Broadway.

          8                 We think this definitely points to

          9  the need for better management before going to the

         10  public to close a budget gap.

         11                 Governor Pataki has stated that he

         12  does not support tax increases to close budget gaps

         13  because it would hurt the economy and be

         14  job-killing.

         15                 How can he then accept a Transit fare

         16  hike that is a tax on riders that use the subway and

         17  Transit booth closings that will cut jobs, as well

         18  as endanger the safety of riders.

         19                 Governor Pataki and the State

         20  Legislature must raise revenues that fund Transit,

         21  revenues such as petroleum business tax which is

         22  dedicated to Transit.

         23                 They should also close corporate

         24  loopholes. A portion of corporate income tax is

         25  dedicated to the MTA and would therefore increase
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          2  revenues.

          3                 Governor Pataki and the MTA are

          4  taking the wrong steps to bolster our economy.

          5                 We know that increased fare and

          6  decreased service will always result in decreased

          7  ridership. Closing token booths will threaten

          8  people's sense of safety, as well as their reality

          9  of safety.

         10                 Transit should be made more

         11  accessible so that all New Yorkers, including

         12  low-income and working families, can use it.

         13                 Our economy and our Transit system

         14  will not improve by having people stay at home. And

         15  I would just also like to make just another comment,

         16  a few comments.

         17                 The MTA talked about all their

         18  financial records being on the web; however, we have

         19  heard that 54 million has been taken out of

         20  Access-A-Ride in the next two years. The person from

         21  the disability community that was going to talk

         22  about it has left. But when I heard that I

         23  immediately went to the website to find out about

         24  this, it's a peg, and none of that information is on

         25  the website. It hasn't been given out at their Board

                                                            190

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  meetings that I've been to, so I have no idea how

          3  the public is supposed to get this information, and

          4  how we testify at public hearings about this

          5  information that we can't get a hold of.

          6                 Two other things. One is community

          7  boards are supposed to have 30-day notice of any --

          8  for public comments for a public meeting in order if

          9  there's any change in access at a subway station.

         10                 The community boards received a

         11  letter on January 3rd saying that these cuts that

         12  token booths were going to be closed, but they were

         13  not given at that time because it wasn't public, the

         14  dates or places of any of these public hearings, and

         15  they were told -- they weren't even told that they

         16  would have to testify at these public hearings on

         17  the token booths.

         18                 The District Manager in my community

         19  board called the MTA and they were told it was no

         20  hurry to get comments about token booths because it

         21  wasn't happening until July.

         22                 So, I think that they're not

         23  fulfilling their legal requirements to our community

         24  boards, and the City Council may be able to help in

         25  that.
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          2                 And then one other issue. One of my

          3  tasks is to mobilize for these public hearings, and

          4  I thought that would not be a very hard task because

          5  people would be on buses and subways, see the

          6  hearings announced and be very upset. However, I

          7  looked around for all of these notices, and I know

          8  you said that you travel the subway, I don't know if

          9  you've seen these notices, I couldn't find them.

         10                 Finally, last night I went to a token

         11  booth clerk, because that's the only way to get

         12  information, and he pointed out a notice to me.

         13                 There are notices, I didn't know the

         14  MTA was going to bring one, so I stole one from the

         15  subway station this morning.

         16                 These are the notices. Now, they're

         17  put up on walls behind or near the token booth. They

         18  are nowhere on the station, they are nowhere on the

         19  trains. When the MTA wants to get out information,

         20  when they have schedule information change, when

         21  they have new regulations like, you know, how you

         22  treat the MTA employees, they're all over the

         23  stations. These are not on the platforms anywhere.

         24  They are not on the subways anywhere.

         25                 Now, if you're concerned about a fare
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          2  increase or a token booth closing, where do you see

          3  that? Does that say anything, oh my God, the fare is

          4  going up? If you look sideways you can see that

          5  there's a public hearing. So, I think that they are

          6  purposely not giving us notice.

          7                 They've also talked about translation

          8  at the public hearings, but if these notices are

          9  only in English, how are people who don't speak

         10  English going to know about them?

         11                 So, I think we have a real serious

         12  problem on notification of these public hearings,

         13  and I would like any help that the Council can give

         14  on that.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Good afternoon,

         17  Council Members. I'm Gene Russianoff with the

         18  Straphangers Campaign. You have a copy of my written

         19  testimony and I'm going to be very brief, you've had

         20  a long morning.

         21                 We say in the testimony the MTA has a

         22  well-deserved credibility problem, that's because it

         23  played election year politics and refused to give a

         24  clear and complete picture of its finances through

         25  the last year.
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          2                 There was a lot of dialogue with the

          3  MTA. For me the issue is that they've put out

          4  different numbers at different points in time, and

          5  it wasn't by accident. So they low-balled the number

          6  of their budget gap at $663 million when they were

          7  selling billions of dollars of bonds over last

          8  spring and summer and the fall. And they low-balled

          9  their budget deficit or their budget gap up to and

         10  including November 5th Election Day so that Governor

         11  Pataki could say, well I hope there won't be a fare

         12  hike. And then two weeks later, they have announced

         13  that they have a $1.1 billion deficit for this year,

         14  and a $1.7 billion deficit for next year.

         15                 I'm not saying that they lied or that

         16  these numbers aren't based on their finances. What I

         17  am saying is that they really need to figure out

         18  what a budget gap is, because it's got lots of

         19  different meanings to them.

         20                 And when I asked them about the 663

         21  figure, they said, well, you know, it's a billion

         22  dollars minus the saving we're going to get from

         23  restructuring our bonds, and that's what they told

         24  their investors, and the Executive Director of the

         25  MTA testified that they got a better bond rating
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          2  when they put out their financial statements over

          3  the summer with these numbers in them.

          4                 So, I don't think they really leveled

          5  with the riding public. I don't doubt that they have

          6  serious financial problems. The issue is what is the

          7  severity of those problems, and does it justify

          8  stocking the customers with a whopping 50 cent fare

          9  hike, which is why we, like the member of the

         10  Coalition, look forward to City Comptroller Bill

         11  Thompson's audit.

         12                 And as Susan testified, the problem

         13  continues to this day. We met with the MTA's Budget

         14  Director, Gary Caplan. I didn't get a lot of

         15  information from them, but I specifically asked for

         16  some numbers on what the burden would be on the

         17  riding public if they got their option B or option

         18  C, $1.75 or $2.00 fare. Right now riders pay about

         19  60 percent of the cost of running the subway and bus

         20  system. It's the highest fare box burden, or fare

         21  box operating ratio in the nation, the average is

         22  about 40 percent, and I want to know, is it going to

         23  go up to 65 percent, that we're going to be paying

         24  70 or 75 percent of the cost. It's a knowable

         25  number, they know it, they refused to give it to me
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          2  and said it's not a good number.

          3                 Meanwhile, Katie Lapp in her

          4  statement says that they're going to put on the web

          5  the farebox operating ratios now. So, if it's good

          6  enough information to share with us now, it's good

          7  enough information to tell us what they will be, and

          8  I would like to work with the Council and Council

          9  staff on trying to get these numbers out of them.

         10  But the problem hasn't ended, in terms of getting

         11  good financial data out of them.

         12                 One or two other points. In my

         13  testimony I talk about what I thought was one of the

         14  particularly interesting aspects of the Independent

         15  Budget Office's report, which is the major pressure

         16  on the fare. It's all the money they've borrowed,

         17  and I know the Chairman asked a bunch of questions

         18  on this, and the resulting interest payments and

         19  debt service for it. Next year, for the first time

         20  in 30 years, next year, first time in 30 years there

         21  will be no money from the bridge and tunnel toll

         22  surpluses to go to underwriting the subway and bus

         23  fare. When your constituents take the Throggsneck

         24  Bridge or the Whitestone or the Queens Midtown

         25  Tunnel, in the past some portion of that toll
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          2  surplus has gone to keep down the fare and support

          3  service and operation. That makes sense, a good

          4  subway system keeps people off of those bridges,

          5  keeps drivers out of those tunnels, but you look at

          6  the IBO report, and the MTA's underlying numbers

          7  were getting zero dollars from the toll surplus next

          8  year. Why? Because it's being eaten up by hundreds

          9  of millions of dollars of new debt service and

         10  interest payments because they refinanced $14

         11  billion worth of bonds in the summer, and they're

         12  borrowing $7.8 billion of new money in a five-year

         13  period.

         14                 So, that's an area of concern for us,

         15  and for the Council. I think we need to figure out

         16  how to get more real money at the MTA's rebuilding

         17  program or, you know, just the future is mortgaged

         18  and the pressure on fares and service will be

         19  enormous.

         20                 Lastly, in my testimony I list some

         21  pieces of legislation pending in Albany, which I

         22  think would make the MTA more accountable. They're

         23  admittedly modest. What we particularly like is one

         24  that would require them to publish their budget 60

         25  days in advance of its adoption, and hold a hearing
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          2  on it.

          3                 I mean, this Council goes through

          4  months of discussion, and there are changes in

          5  priorities and people come in and express their

          6  feelings about which direction the City is going in.

          7                 With the MTA the budget comes out, it

          8  came out on a Tuesday afternoon at 3:00, and the

          9  subcommittee in charge of the Transit Authority

         10  approved it at 3:45, and then it was approved by the

         11  full MTA Board a couple of days later with no

         12  discussion. And as Susan was saying, without

         13  discussion of what we're doing at paratransit, how

         14  much service are we providing, so we would like an

         15  open process, and we would look forward with working

         16  with the Council on legislation in Albany to make

         17  the MTA more accountable. And thank you for the

         18  opportunity to speak today.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much.

         20                 Any questions from Council members?

         21                 Gene, thank you. And in fact, I'd be

         22  very interested in getting from you exactly what

         23  four bills are being proposed in Albany.

         24                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Great. We'll

         25  follow-up with your staff.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Sure. And I think as

          3  a City Council, we will be more than happy to weigh

          4  in with our thoughts on that.

          5                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Great.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: On each of those

          7  bills.

          8                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Great.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you. Thank

         10  you, Susan.

         11                 I'd like to ask the next panel to

         12  join us at the witness table.

         13                 Matthew Mitchell, from the Fiscal

         14  Policy Institute, and John Rozankowski, from the

         15  Fordham Bedford Community Coalition.

         16                 And after this panel testifies, the

         17  final panel will be called up consisting of Julie

         18  Hyman, from CIDNY, who has departed us, and I don't

         19  blame her, and also Arthur Harmon, the Management

         20  Auditor at the MTA. Still here.

         21                 Actually, perhaps you can join us at

         22  the table now. Okay, you want to wait? Thank you for

         23  joining us.

         24                 Mr. Mitchell. I want to thank all

         25  three of you gentlemen for your patience and
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          2  understanding in this very long hearing process.

          3                 MR. MITCHELL: Thank you, Mr.

          4  Chairman, and Committee. I appreciate the

          5  opportunity to testify today.

          6                 My name again is Matthew Mitchell,

          7  and I'm Project Director of the Fiscal Policy

          8  Institute. FPI is a research and education

          9  organization dedicated to the broad range of tax,

         10  public policy and budget issues affecting New York

         11  City and New York State, and in that capacity I've

         12  been, for about the past year and a half looking at

         13  this issue of the MTA budget, and I'm going to be

         14  quite brief. I'm going to provide an example of a

         15  specific instance of lack of accountability with

         16  regard to budget reporting that I found especially

         17  egregious. There's a lot of examples that one could

         18  pull out, and then I'm going to propose three things

         19  you all might want to ask the MTA, specific things.

         20                 The example has to do with the

         21  document that they handed out in December. It's the

         22  2003 operating budget proposal. You heard Katherine

         23  Lapp say that the MTA's budget is larger than that

         24  of many cities and in fact many states. Maybe they

         25  have thicker documents that they hand out, but this
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          2  is what they handed out to the public at the

          3  meeting, okay? And you look into it and, you know,

          4  the table, the main table is called statement of

          5  operations, and you get down and there's a footnote,

          6  it says exclude subsidies and debt service,

          7  continues current fare levels. Well, this is

          8  preposterous. You know, the subsidies, if you look

          9  at the 2002 operating budget, the subsidies which

         10  include City and State operating subsidies, you

         11  know, which are threatened on the City side, a

         12  variety of tax recording subsidies, mortgage

         13  recording tax, petroleum business tax, a bunch of

         14  things like that, and also the Governor's spinoff,

         15  his operating assistance was a subsidy. That was

         16  almost a third of their revenue last year. And to

         17  just simply say in their main budget presentation to

         18  the public that we're going to exclude subsidies is

         19  -- I don't know, they say they win awards from the

         20  Government Finance Officers Association, I don't,

         21  you know, it's troubling.

         22                 And then on the expense side, you

         23  know you've heard several people say they did a $14

         24  billion refinancing, which I've heard is a world

         25  record in the municipal bond markets. It's a
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          2  phenomenal amount of money. They're spending $7

          3  billion new dollars on the current capital plan, and

          4  they're going to exclude debt service from their

          5  presentation. I guess it's not relevant, it's a

          6  thing, we're not going to tell you about it.

          7                 Now, there's other places where they

          8  talked about this thing, but just the fact that they

          9  have the gall to put in a footnote like that is an

         10  indicator of the kind of problems that are there.

         11                 We could do more, but it's late in

         12  the afternoon.

         13                 And then, you know, on the second

         14  page of the testimony, I'm just proposing three

         15  reforms. Really they're things that I think that the

         16  Council could ask of Katherine Lapp and the MTA. One

         17  is simply a clear budget presentation on New York

         18  City Transit. It looks at all the standard revenue

         19  categories, and while there are certain issues you

         20  have to be an accountant to look at, you know the

         21  standard revenue and expense categories are quite

         22  clear, and it seems what we're asking for here is,

         23  in history dating back to 1994 using consistent

         24  definitions and then projections going out to 2007,

         25  again using the same consistent definition so they
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          2  can't change the numbers.

          3                 The bold item number 2 looks at the

          4  issue of debt service particularly, it's really

          5  critical that we get real numbers moving forward on

          6  the debt service because the future of the system is

          7  at stake around this issue of capital financing and

          8  excessive reliance on bond debt to do capital

          9  financing.

         10                 And then the third thing is reform

         11  that has to do with issues of accountability and

         12  contracting in the capital program, and we're

         13  proposing that what they call "exception reports" be

         14  put on a database and posted on the web so that the

         15  public can, or say a Councilperson could go look at

         16  a major project in your district and see whether

         17  it's on time within budget, what's going on. And

         18  beyond these specific requests the Council could

         19  think about asking of the MTA, we definitely support

         20  the idea of independent audit by the City and State

         21  Comptrollers, and I appreciate the opportunity to

         22  testify today.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much,

         24  Mr. Mitchell.

         25                 Mr. Rozankowski.
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          2                 MR. ROZANKOWSKI: Yes, good afternoon.

          3  It's been a long day, so I'll spare you with

          4  detailed reading of all you've got and just go

          5  through the highlights.

          6                 The MTA is trying to blackmail New

          7  York City subway riders with both either a fare

          8  increase or drastic service cut. Comptroller William

          9  Thompson's audit, however, will open the door to a

         10  third alternative. A close examination of the

         11  Transit Authority, not TA, Transit Authority,

         12  programs, policies and procedures, I believe that

         13  this action would yield such a substantial savings

         14  of money that the need for a fare increase would be

         15  greatly reduced.

         16                 Here are some examples:

         17                 Grandiose station renovations, with

         18  unnecessary work and non-essential frills. You heard

         19  about the use of outside contractors versus inside

         20  workers.

         21                 Secondly, high-tech extravaganzas,

         22  apparently for the sake of high-tech. Many of these

         23  are non-essential and could even pose danger to

         24  subway riders and TA personnel, like vending

         25  machines in place of token booths, and also the
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          2  one-person train control.

          3                 Three, banal TV ads, such as "MTA

          4  Going Your Way" or inane publications such as how to

          5  use escalators. You saw that one, Susan? How to use

          6  escalators, are a big waste of money.

          7                 And it's the obvious, executive

          8  salaries, wages, perks, the extravagant workplace

          9  conditions are also a field of inquiry.

         10                 One of the big issues of the recently

         11  concluded talks between management and labor on the

         12  Transit was the issue of respect for workers. How

         13  about respect for subway riders? How about respect

         14  for you, the locally elected officials? How about

         15  listening to people for a change in public hearings?

         16  Remember the G Train, the V Train? Remember the

         17  Manhattan Bridge closings? And now these characters

         18  at the Transit Authority want a fare increase. A

         19  blank endorsement of their business as usual in

         20  effect of public raise. Whether it's through taxes,

         21  tolls, fare boxes, subsidies, we pay their salaries,

         22  we have a right to know how our money is spent and

         23  to have a decisive voice how it is spent.

         24                 But you say TA is a State agency.

         25  What can you do? There's a lot you can do. Take a
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          2  page from the US Congress and pass a sense of the

          3  City Council resolution requesting Governor Pataki

          4  to persuade the MTA not to hold public hearings or

          5  vote on the fare increase or token closings until

          6  after Thompson's audit is complete.

          7                 Now, the fairness of this request is

          8  beyond challenge. And the release of Thompson's

          9  audit after a fare increase, a total waste of time.

         10                 Second, after you have the results of

         11  the audit, bring the TA officials here into these

         12  Chambers, not the big cheeses that you had today,

         13  the Transit Authority officials, and ask them about

         14  all this programming and they will have a lot of

         15  explaining to do.

         16                 Finally, in his campaign for Mayor,

         17  Mayor Bloomberg said that New York City would be

         18  better off if it ran its own subway system. In light

         19  of everything that has happened, this proposal has

         20  considerable merit and should be studied as a longer

         21  term objective, but for now, armed with the audit,

         22  you, and only you can prevent the Transit Authority

         23  from bull-dozing the New York Subway riders again.

         24                 You can and must win a big one for

         25  New York City.
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          2                 Thank you so much.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you. That was

          4  excellent.

          5                 And now I'd like to ask our final

          6  witness, certainly not the least witness, to

          7  testify. Mr. Harman.

          8                 MR. HARMAN: Good morning. I'm glad

          9  I'm here. I thought there would be a lot of press

         10  here so that we could get something accomplished.

         11                 My name is Art Harman. I was the

         12  number one auditor in the State of New York. I

         13  recovered more millions of dollars than any other

         14  auditor in New York. I was on the MTA payroll,

         15  signed as a management auditor, reporting directly

         16  to the Comptroller of the Transit Authority, the

         17  only Management Auditor.

         18                 In conducting an audit of outside

         19  contractors, I found that the contractors were not

         20  paying for the Transit Authority equipment that they

         21  were supposed to pay for per the terms of the

         22  contracts, including these big work trains.

         23                 I recovered eight to $10 million at

         24  the initial phase of my audit, from only one

         25  contractor, there were approximately 40 more to go.
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          2  The orders came down from MTA management, the

          3  auditor has to be stopped, the auditor has to be

          4  fired, and no other monies to be collected.

          5                 What I'm bringing to this Council now

          6  is something that is known across the country. We

          7  all heard of Enron and we all heard of Worldcom, and

          8  we all heard of audit scandals.

          9                 The presentation by the MTA people

         10  today should not be recognized in any manner. You

         11  cannot believe anything the MTA says. There is an

         12  absolute breakdown of law and order at the MTA.

         13  There is no management auditing, there is no

         14  accountability, there is nobody to report wrongdoing

         15  to.

         16                 This matter has steamrolled into the

         17  fact I just gave Councilman Liu, where the City

         18  Councilperson in Flushing, Councilwoman Julia

         19  Harrison, faxed to Governor Pataki a cover letter he

         20  had, attached with documents, telling the Governor

         21  don't spend another penny at the MTA until you

         22  resolve the audit scandal.

         23                 The Governor did absolutely nothing

         24  about it. Remind you of Enron, remind you of

         25  Worldcom, you wouldn't pay a fare increase to Enron
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          2  or Worldcom so you certainly shouldn't pay it to the

          3  MTA.

          4                 You have a major audit scandal there.

          5  You have no accountability for money being spent,

          6  and you have a complete violation of the law.

          7                 By the way, Governor Pataki is

          8  required to protect the access of the public and he

          9  did not do it. And this is something that the

         10  Council should ask and every assistant should ask,

         11  how did Governor Pataki allow this to happen? It's

         12  an arrogant assault on the auditing process, and

         13  that's what I represent, and every individual in the

         14  City.

         15                 You can't prevent crime without a

         16  police force. You are not going to reduce waste,

         17  corruption and mismanagement without an effective

         18  managing auditing process.

         19                 So, I just want to say that the main

         20  thing that the City Council should do is to ask

         21  Governor Pataki why he allowed millions of dollars

         22  to be ripped off at the MTA; why he allowed the

         23  prevention of the recovery of more millions of

         24  dollars. There's no need for a fare increase. As I

         25  heard today, there is no need to cut Access-A-Ride,
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          2  certainly no need to close any toll booths -- any

          3  token booths.

          4                 I would have recovered probably close

          5  to 100 million with my audit, but that's only the

          6  tip of the iceberg. But the responsibility now lies

          7  with Governor Pataki, just like the Chief Executive

          8  Officer of Enron and Worldcom, to explain to New

          9  Yorkers why he allowed this audit to be stopped, and

         10  the auditor to be fired.

         11                 Ironically an assemblyperson took a

         12  bribe and got fired but keeps a pension. An auditor

         13  who recovered $10 million and was going to recover

         14  90 million more, he gets fired and he loses his

         15  pension. And I'd like Attorney General Spitzer to

         16  investigate this, because he is telling Wall Street

         17  what standards they should have and these are the

         18  standards of New York State.

         19                 I don't think that the people will

         20  accept this.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you for

         23  spending your day with us, and for your thoughtful

         24  comments.

         25                 Are there any questions from my
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          2  colleagues?

          3                 Mr. Mitchell, Mr. Harman, thank you

          4  very much for your testimony.

          5                 MR. MITCHELL: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: If there is no other

          7  testimony at today's hearing, which appears to be

          8  the case, this hearing of the Transportation

          9  Committee is adjourned.

         10                 (Hearing concluded at 2:28 p.m.)
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          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 17th day of January 2003.
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